
City of Kelowna
Regular Council Meeting

REVISED AGENDA
 

Monday, February 3, 2014

1:30 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street

Pages

1. Call to Order

This meeting is open to the public and all representations to Council form part of the
public record.  A live audio feed is being broadcast and recorded by CastaNet and a
delayed broadcast is shown on Shaw Cable.

2. Confirmation of Minutes 5 - 10

Regular PM Meeting - January 20, 2014

3. Committee Reports

3.1 Uncollectable Property Taxes Receivable 11 - 14

Delinquent taxes that cannot be dealt with using the tax recovery process are
deemed non-collectible. In order to write off these accounts, Council approval
is required.

3.2 Policy And Write-Off For Uncollectible General Receivables - Council 15 - 21

To obtain the Council endorsement for a policy on the write-off of
uncollectible general receivables and approval to write-off uncollectible
general receivables for the years: Pre-1996 to 2011.

4. Development Application Reports & Related Bylaws

4.1 Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment Application No. OCP13-0008 and
Rezoning Application No. Z13-0009 - (Off of), (N of) & 2458 Joe Riche Road,
Black Mountain Irrigation District

22 - 66

To consider a proposal to construct an ultra-violet water disinfection facility
on a portion of the subject properties.  An amendment to the Official
Community Plan (OCP) Future Land Use designations for a portion of the
subject properties is required from part AGR - Resource Protection Area and
PARK - Major Park &  Open Space, to part PSU - Public Service Utilities and
PARK - Major Park &  Open Space.  A Rezoning from the A1 - Agriculture 1

1



zone to the P4 - Utilities zone is also required.

4.1.1 Bylaw No. 10912 (OCP13-0008) - (Off of), (N of) & 2458 Joe Riche
Road, Black Mountain Irrigation District

67 - 70

Requires a majority of all members of Council (5).
To give Bylaw No. 10912 first reading in order to change the land use
designation of portions of the subject properties from the REP -
Resource Protection Area and the PARK - Major Park and Open Space
designations to the PSU - Public Services Utilities and the PARK -
Major Park and Open Space designations.

4.1.2 Bylaw No. 10913 (Z13-0009) - (Off of), (N of) & 2458 Joe Riche Road,
Black Mountain Irrigation District

71 - 75

To give Bylaw No. 10913 first reading in order to rezone parts of the
subject properties from the A1 - Agriculture 1 zone to the P4 -
Utilities zone.

4.2 Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment Application No. OCP07-0022 and
Rezoning Application No. Z07-0073, Rescindment Request - 2728 Pandosy St,
Al Stober Construction Ltd.

76 - 79

To authorize the rescinding of first, second and third readings given to OCP
Amending Bylaw No. 10265 and Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10266 and to close
the file.

4.2.1 Bylaw No. 10265 (OCP07-0022) - 477 Osprey Avenue, Al Stober
Construction Ltd.

80 - 80

Requires a majority of all members of Council (5).
To rescind first, second and third readings given to Bylaw No. 10265
and to direct staff to close the files.

4.2.2 Bylaw No. 10266 (Z07-0073) - 477 Osprey Avenue, Al Stober
Construction Ltd.

81 - 81

To rescind first, second and third readings given to Bylaw No. 10266
and to direct staff to close the file.

4.3 Bylaw No. 10906 (Z13-0039) - 1334 St. Paul Street, CTQ Holdings Ltd. 82 - 82

To adopt Bylaw No.10906 in order to rezone the subject property from the I2 -
General Industrial Zone to the C7 - Central Business Commercial Zone.

4.3.1 Development Permit Application No. DP13-0170 - 1334 St Paul Street,
CTQ Holdings Ltd.

83 - 95

To consider the form and character of the proposed exterior renovation
of the existing building on the subject property.

4.4 Bylaw No.10379 (OCP10-0006) - 1069 Laurier Avenue, Jasvinder Kandola 96 - 96

2



To adopt Bylaw No.10379 in order to amend the Official Community Plan from
the 'Commercial' designation to the 'Multiple Unit Residential - Low Density'
designation.

4.4.1 Bylaw No.10380 (Z10-0031) - 1045,1053 and 1069 Laurier Avenue,
Jasvinder Kandola

97 - 97

To adopt Bylaw No.10380 in order to rezone the subject property
from the RU6 - Two Dwelling Housing zone to the RM3 - Low Density
Multiple Housing zone.  

4.4.2 Development Permit Application No. DP10-0047 - 1053 Laurier
Avenue, Jasvinder Kandola

98 - 111

To consider a Development Permit for the form and character of three
4 plex buildings for a total of 12 units

4.5 Rezoning Application No. Z11-0035, Extension Request, 1599 KLO Rd, Robert &
Michelle Geismayr

112 - 114

To extend the date for adoption of Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10569 from
February 9, 2014 to February 9, 2015 in order to rezone the subject property
from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing
zone, to permit the construction of a second single family dwelling on the
subject site.

5. Bylaws for Adoption (Development Related)

5.1 Bylaw No. 10738 (Z12-0007) - 483 Poplar Point Drive, Hardie & Karen Deforest 115 - 115

To adopt Bylaw No. 10738 in order to rezone the subject property from the
RU1 - Large Lot Housing zone to the RU6 - Two Dwelling Housing zone.

6. Non-Development Reports & Related Bylaws

6.1 2014 Professional Arts Operating Grants 116 - 122

To approve distribution of annual grants-in-aid to professional arts
organizations.

6.2 2014 Operating and Project Grants for Arts, Culture and Heritage
Organizations

123 - 135

The report provides City Council with an update regarding recipients of 2014
Arts, Culture and Heritage Operating and Project Grants, background
information about the grant programs and review process, and highlights from
final reports provided by 2013 grant recipients.

6.3 Strategic Events Fund - KELOHA 136 - 152

To seek Council’s approval of a grant of $15,000 from the Strategic Events
Fund to support the 2014 Keloha Music and Arts Festival.

3



6.4 Our Rutland Project Launch 153 - 170

To provide Council with an overview of the Our Rutland project, including
community engagement timelines.

7. Bylaws for Adoption (Non-Development Related)

7.1 Bylaw No. 10905 - Amendment No. 23 to Traffic Bylaw No. 8120 171 - 174

To adopt Bylaw No. 10905 in order to amend Traffic Bylaw No. 8120.

7.2 Bylaw No. 10909 - Amendment No. 28 to Airport Fees Bylaw No. 7982 175 - 178

To adopt Bylaw No. 10909 in order to amend Airport Fees Bylaw No. 7982.

8. Mayor and Councillor Items

9. Termination

4



5



6



7



8



9



10



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
January 27, 2014 
 

Rim No. 
 

0205-41 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

Mayor Gray, Chair, Audit Committee 

Subject: 
 

Write-off of Delinquent Property Taxes 

 Report prepared by: George L King, Revenue Manager 

 
 
Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives, for information, the report from the Audit Committee dated January 
27, 2014 with respect to the write-off of delinquent property taxes; 
 
AND THAT Council approve the write-off of delinquent property taxes in the amount of 
$111,560.15 for the years 1989 to 2013, as attached to the report from the Audit Committee 
dated January 27, 2014; 
 
AND THAT Council direct staff to apply to the Minister under section 315.3 of the Local 
Government Act to manage and dispose of such assets; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT once the Ministerial approval is received all outstanding amounts from 
other taxing authorities be deducted from their 2014 tax requisitions and each of these taxing 
authorities be advised. 
 
Purpose:  
 
Delinquent taxes that cannot be dealt with using the tax recovery process are deemed non-
collectible. In order to write off these accounts, Council approval is required. 
 
Background: 
 
Staff have exhausted all options to collect the tax accounts as outlined in Appendix A; 

therefore, the outstanding delinquent accounts are deemed to be non-collectible and should 

be written off.  

 

11



 

The following is a description of the tax accounts deemed uncollectible: 

Manufactured Homes 

 

There are instances where either the manufactured home has been removed from the 

municipality or has been demolished, the municipality is left with no further course of action 

to collect.  Since 1989 there are nine (9) mobile homes totaling $6,648.86 listed in Appendix A 

that are no longer traceable, therefore uncollectible. 

I.R. #7 

 

With regards to I.R. #7 located within the City of Kelowna boundary, Section 220(1)(e) of the 

Community Charter  allows an exemption for land, improvements or both held and/or 

occupied by a person of native status, unless that land is leased to or occupied by a person 

who is not a member of the Band. As a result staff are recommending that ten (10) properties 

totaling $94,889.36 listed in Appendix A be written off as these properties were occupied by a 

person of native status and/or the company leasing the property went bankrupt or had no 

assets to collect on.  

Amalgamated Rolls 

 

In 2010 staff contacted BC Assessment to advise them that when they chose to amalgamate 

two rolls into one roll they neglected to reduce the assessment value of the old property rolls 

to zero.  This resulted in the property being taxed twice.  Unfortunately, given that the 

amalgamation of the property rolls occurred in 2008, the Assessment Act does not allow a 

supplemental to be generated to correct this situation. As a result, staff are requesting that 

the Council support the write-off of $8,417.10. 

Defunct Company 

 

On September 25, 2007 the City was the successful bidder at the 2006 tax sale and acquired 

the property located on Belgo Rd to be used for the Mission Greenway. While transferring the 

title, staff were informed that the Kamloops Land Title Office could not transfer the said 

property as it was in the name of a defunct company (Belgo Land Company Limited) which has 

been struck from the corporate registry and should have been transferred to the Crown.  

At that point staff turned the matter over to the City Solicitor’s office who in turn worked 

with the Provincial Government to successfully transfer the property to the City on May 5, 

2013. As title of this property should have been originally transferred to the Crown, who by 

legislation are tax exempt, staff are requesting that for the years 2002 to 2013 property taxes 

be written off in the amount of $1,604.83. 

 
 

12



 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
 
In accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) the uncollectible general 
receivables items have been written off against revenue in the year that they were 
determined to be uncollectible; therefore there are no budgetary considerations to be made. 
 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
 

Section 315.3 of the Local Government Act states that “The minister may confer on a local 

government further powers to manage and dispose of assets, including taxation revenue, that 

the minster considers necessary or advisable.” Once approved by the minister the 

municipality would have the authority to write-off the municipal portion of taxes totaling 

$49,692.88, associated penalties totaling $10,731.77, and requisition from all other taxing 

authorities totaling $51,135.50. See Appendix A attached. 

Considerations not applicable to this report: 

Internal Circulation: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Community & Media Relations Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
G. King, CPA, CMA, Revenue Manager 
 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 K. Grayston, Director, Financial Services  

13



Roll # Lot Plan 
Manufactured 
Home Reg # Municipal Library 

Regional 
District 

BC Assessment 
Authority 

Regional 
Hospital 
District School 

SIR Regional 
District Penalties Total 

Manufactured Homes                     

19-217-4237064 2 20583 34178            437.34  
 

           37.80                 10.46             25.11             351.35  
 

             86.21                948.28  

19-217-11142043 
  

091164              98.33  
 

            8.84                   1.91              8.15               61.80  
 

             56.52                235.55  

19-217-30003191 
  

53552            352.13  
 

           30.74                   6.75             28.53             211.50              1.86               86.37                717.88  

19-217-30040980 
  

16399            419.64  
 

           34.72                   8.09             29.49             264.06                  -               137.16                893.16  

19-217-4015001 
 

2243 78758              46.10  
 

            3.90                   0.89              3.69               27.35                  -                 20.29                102.22  

19-217-4379003 12 665 48635            559.59         13.78             48.76                 11.07             46.17             339.14                  -               101.85             1,120.36  

19-217-30050177 
  

54728            322.06         16.07             28.00                   6.48             28.85             195.79  
 

             95.10                692.35  

19-217-3497002 5 1068 40164            252.72         12.77             21.50                   4.87             24.04             149.05                  -                 46.50                511.45  

19-217-3827001 1 EPP8620 65904            671.12         33.83             57.36                 12.68             62.73             394.81                  -               195.08             1,427.61  

Subtotal 
   

       3,159.03        76.45          271.62                63.20          256.76         1,994.85              1.86            825.08           6,648.86  

  
          

  
I.R. #7 

         
  

19-217-26060000 Lot 9 IR 7  CLSR 68065 
 

      22,261.58  
 

      1,268.21               552.13           874.26        22,576.78  
 

        5,152.08           52,685.04  

19-217-25900032 Lot 32 IR7 KAP45238-CLSR 73694 
 

           918.66  
 

           77.48                 22.13             49.57             732.74  
 

           180.06             1,980.64  

19-217-26500010 Bay # 1  
 

43652         1,729.04  
 

         130.22                 39.79             87.06          1,431.88              1.60             348.11             3,767.70  

19-217-26500050 Bay # 5 
 

38107         1,307.73  
 

           76.91                 22.16             51.84             784.85              2.42             224.59             2,470.50  

19-217-25999004 14 RSBC731 
 

        9,850.14  
 

      1,216.07               274.44           917.44          7,722.00           303.11          2,029.32           22,312.52  

19-217-25900150 119-1 KAP45458, CLSR 73695 
 

        1,139.65         27.98             99.02                 22.47             93.76             688.68              6.04             207.76             2,285.36  

19-217-25900195 120-2 KAP45458 CLSR 73695 
 

        2,263.00         55.65           197.81                 44.43           192.65          1,369.39             12.32             413.52             4,548.77  

19-217-25900025 25 KAP45238 CLSR 73694 
 

        1,593.21         41.37           139.01                 31.32           136.17             963.71              6.30             291.12             3,202.21  

19-217-30140691 
  

18197            103.08           5.73              9.54                   1.91              9.54               61.08                  -                 19.36                210.24  

19-217-26500080 
  

10417            703.58         35.54             59.85                 13.57             66.89             415.29              2.00             129.66             1,426.38  

Subtotal 
   

     41,869.67      166.27      3,274.12           1,024.35      2,479.18       36,746.40          333.79         8,995.58         94,889.36  

  
           

  

Amalgamated Rolls 
         

  

19-217-7304181 A 55946 
 

           114.13              -                5.48                   2.76              5.18             135.68              0.91               26.41                290.55  

19-217-7304182 A 55946 
 

        3,752.16              -             287.56                 84.18           271.75          2,944.40             47.72             738.78             8,126.55  

Subtotal 
   

       3,866.29              -            293.04                86.94          276.93         3,080.08            48.63            765.19           8,417.10  

  
           

  

Defunct Company 
         

  

19-217-4200005 
   

           797.89         21.73             66.27                 14.94             66.39             478.03             13.66             145.92             1,604.83  

Subtotal 
   

          797.89        21.73            66.27                14.94            66.39            478.03            13.66            145.92           1,604.83  

  
           

  

Grand Total 
   

     49,692.88      264.45      3,905.06           1,189.43      3,079.26       42,299.36          397.94       10,731.77       111,560.15  

  
           

  

                          

 14



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
January 27, 2014 
 

Rim No. 
 

0205-41 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

Mayor Gray, Chair, Audit Committee 

Subject: 
 

Policy # 370 & Write-Off Of Uncollectible General Receivables 

 Report prepared by: George L King, Revenue Manager 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives, for information, the report from the Audit Committed dated January 
27, 2014 with respect to the Policy # 370 & Write-Off Of Uncollectible General Receivables; 
 
AND THAT Council endorse Policy # 370 Write-Off Policy for Uncollectible General Receivables 
as attached to the report from the Audit Committee Dated January 27, 2014; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT Council approve the write-off of general receivables as per Policy # 370 
in the amount of $389,713.29 for the years: Pre-1996 to 2011.  
 
 
Purpose:  
 
To obtain the Council endorsement for a policy on the write-off of uncollectible general 
receivables and approval to write-off uncollectible general receivables for the years: Pre-
1996 to 2011. 
 
Background: 
 
The periodic purging of delinquent, uncollectible general receivables is a fiscally responsible 
method to ensure an accurate position of the City’s expected revenue.  
 
Policy # 370 establishes guidelines and a timeline to be used by staff for customer accounts to 
be forwarded to the Audit Committee for write-off consideration. Furthermore, it sets 
authorization levels for write-off of general accounts receivable invoices and accumulated 
interest balances.  
 
Based on the Policy # 370, staff are recommending a write-off in the amount of $389,713.29 
for the years: Pre-1996 to 2011. 
 

15



 
The graph below illustrates the year in which the general receivable became uncollectible 
and the area the initial charge was from: 
 

 
 
The pie chart below illustrates the total amount, by type of general receivable that is being 
requested to be written off for the period pre-1996 to 2011: 
 

 

$0.00 

$20,000.00 

$40,000.00 

$60,000.00 

$80,000.00 

$100,000.00 

$120,000.00 
P

re
1

9
9

6
 

1
9

9
6

 

1
9

9
7

 

1
9

9
8

 

1
9

9
9

 

2
0

0
0

 

2
0

0
1

 

2
0

0
2

 

2
0

0
3

 

2
0

0
4

 

2
0

0
5

 

2
0

0
6

 

2
0

0
7

 

2
0

0
8

 

2
0

0
9

 

2
0

1
0

 

2
0

1
1

 

Year 

Uncollectible General Receivables by Type Pre 1996-2011 

Bylaws/Permits 

PRC 

Other 

Airport 

Landfill 

Real Estate 

Real Estate, 
$188,689.06 

Landfill, $56,809.85 

Airport, $67,583.52 

Other, $40,790.17 

PRC, $21,901.12 

Bylaws/Permits, 
$13,939.57 

Total Uncollectible General Receivables By Type Pre 1996-2011 

16



 
Existing Policy: 
 
The policy as outlined in Appendix A reflects internal procedures which have been followed by 
City staff. The only additional process is the inclusion of a consistent and regular review of 
uncollectible customer accounts by the Audit Committee and approval for write-off by 
Council. 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
 
In accordance with GAAP the uncollectible general receivables items have been written off 
against revenue in the year that they were determined to be uncollectible; therefore there 
are no budgetary considerations to be made. 
 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Internal Circulation: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Community & Media Relations Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
G. King, CPA, CMA, Revenue Manager 
 
 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 K. Grayston, Director, Financial Services 
 
 

  

17



Appendix A – Write-Off Policy for Uncollectible General Receivables 
 

 
 
Contact Department: Financial Services 

   

Policy Statement 

The periodic purging of delinquent, uncollectible general receivables is a fiscally responsible method to ensure an accurate 
position of the City’s expected revenue.  

Purpose 

The purpose of this policy is to set authorization levels for write-off of general accounts receivable invoices and 
accumulated interest balances; and to establish standard guidelines for write-off of uncollectible general receivables. 

 
Background 

In order to establish a consistent and regular review of uncollectible customer accounts by Council, this policy 
establishes an annual recommendation be presented to City Council for action. 

 
Procedure: 

1. General Accounts Receivable Invoices Write-Off: 
 

Collection procedures will be managed through the use of an Aged Trial Balance produced by the corporate financial 
system. Invoices will be written off once the approver has been satisfied that all reasonable collection efforts have 
been exhausted or it has been determined that the cost to the City to collect the debt exceeds the value of the debt. 
 
The Revenue Branch will follow the “Credit and Collection Procedure” to attempt to collect outstanding invoice 
balances. These procedures include but are not limited to mailing written non-payment reminders, verbal requests, 
negotiate revised payment terms, cross reference to the AP system, draw on security held, transfer to property taxes, 
legal action and use of a Collection Agency. 

a) CREDIT AND COLLECTION PROCEDURE 

Credit Application Process: 

Credit accounts may be obtained upon submission of a Credit Application and its subsequent favourable 
response.  The following procedures must be completed: 
 
1. The applicant must complete and sign a Credit Approval Request, granting the City of Kelowna 

permission to research the credit history. 
2. The Accounting Assistant (Collections) will conduct a search after receipt of the completed application.  

The search will consist of confirming credit history with the applicant’s bank, and three credit references. 
3. The Revenue Manager will review the search results and, where indicated, grant credit account status 

with appropriate limits.  If the search results are unsatisfactory, credit will be refused. 

CITY OF KELOWNA                                                         COUNCIL POLICY NO. 370 
                                                    Page 2 of 4 

Process for Unpaid Accounts: 

  The following steps are taken: 

City of Kelowna 
1435 Water Street  
Kelowna, BC  V1Y 
1J4   
250 469-8500 
kelowna.ca 

 Council Policy 
 Write-Off Policy for Uncollectible General Receivables 
 APPROVED @ 

POLICY 370 

 

18



 
(a) 30 days – Within thirty days of the invoice date a statement is sent which states that payment must 

be received on the last day of the month following the invoice date; 
 

(b) 60 days – Interest is charged from 31 to 60 days and a statement is sent with a Reminder Notice 
that indicates the invoices which are past due.  

  
(c) 90 days – Additional interest charges are applied and a statement is sent with a second Reminder 

Notice that reminds the customer that payment on the listed invoice(s) has still not been received 
and that prompt payment is required in order to remain in good standing with the City’s terms. At 
this point the customer’s ability to charge goods or services will be suspended until payment is 
received in full. In addition, a landfill account holder, upon written notice, will be denied entry into 
the Landfill. 

 
(d) 120 days – Additional interest charges are applied and a statement is sent with a final Reminder 

Notice that indicates to the customers that either immediate payment within 7 business days is 
required, or develop a mutually agreeable arrangement to discharge the amounts owed; otherwise 
the City will begin the process to turn the customer account over to a Collection Agency or to the 
City Solicitor for further action and report the delinquent payment experience to the Credit 
Reporting Agencies.  

Once satisfied that all avenues of collection have been exhausted, authorization to write-off Accounts Receivable is 
as follows: 
 

 $0.01 - $2,000.00  - Revenue Manager 

 > $2,000.00  - City Council Approval 
 

Once approval is obtained, the originating department will be informed and the appropriate journal entries and the 
invoice(s) will be removed from the Aged Trial Balance. 
 
An Audit Committee report will be prepared annually which will include: 
 

 For information only items under $2,000.00 that have been written off; 

 For Council approval items over $2,000.00. 
 
Information regarding written off accounts will be retained by the Revenue Branch for 7 years in order to be referred 
to if future collections situations arise. 
 
Accounts Receivables Write-Off of Finance Charges: 

 
Finance charges are applied monthly to overdue invoices. Interest is accumulated at a rate of 1.5% per month (18% 
annually) from the invoice due date.  Periodically, situations occur that create a rationale to write-off the accrued 
interest. The Accounts Receivable Write-Off of Finance Charges procedures will be followed when interest charges 
are written off. Authorization levels dictated by this Policy will be adhered to. 
 
There are many reasons for writing off finance charges. Occasionally payments are misapplied, or there is a timing 
difference between when payments are received and when they are applied to the account. Credit notes or reversal 
of charges can be issued after interest has started to accumulate. These situations affect the interest calculation and 
are beyond the control of the customer. For situations beyond the control of the customer, the Revenue Manager has 
been given authority to reverse the associated finance charges. 

CITY OF KELOWNA                                                         COUNCIL POLICY NO. 370 
                                                    Page 3 of 4 

 
The requirement to write-off finance charges also arises because Accounts Receivable staff cannot collect payment 
from the customer. As part of a negotiated settlement The Revenue Manager has the authority to: 
 

 Write-off finance charge amounts up to $2,000; and/or 

 Restructure the finance charge to reflect actual City interest revenue losses for the time period in question. 
 
Once satisfied that all avenues of collection have been exhausted, authorization levels to write-off accumulated 

19



finance charges is as follows: 
 

 $0.01 - $2,000.00  – Revenue Manager 

 > $2,000.00  - City Council Approval 
 
The Revenue Manager has the authority to suspend interest being charged against invoices to government agencies, 
airport customers and customers whose invoices are in dispute. 
 
2. Guidelines for Write-Off of Uncollectible General Receivables 

 
In order for the City to reflect the value of its receivables and ensure that resources are used efficiently and not 
devoted to the recovery of uncollectible receivables, the timely identification of losses is an essential element in 
appropriately measuring the value of the City’s assets. Therefore, the write-off process is a critical component. 
 
 
Departments shall recommend write-off actions when an asset meets one of the write-off criteria described below: 
 

A. Criteria For Write-Off Action: 

The City shall consider an asset non-recoverable and recommend write-off actions based on the  
following: 

 
 Assets that cannot be substantiated by evidence or are legally without merit 
 Costs of further recovery actions will exceed estimated recovery amounts 
 Inability to locate debtor 
 Accounts under $50.00 and delinquent for six months 
 Accounts over two years old that have been billed regularly and subject to a diligent collection 
 effort  
 Forgiveness of debt as approved by Council 
 Accounts returned by a collection agency as uncollectible, and for which no other collection remedy 

is possible or prudent 
 Debtor has declared bankruptcy under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act 
 Credit balances under $50.00 and inactive for six months 
 Accounts owed by companies no longer in business and for which collection efforts have failed  
 Court Judgments 
 Compromise of debt by proper authority 
 Accounts of deceased persons 

 Other reasons to be considered on a case-by-case basis based on GAAP or applicable standards. 
 
Annually, upon review and approval by the Director, Financial Services the Revenue Manager will prepare a 
summary report to the Audit Committee for final approval by Council. 
 
This report will include the account holder name, type of general receivable, the amount of the write-off, and the 
rationale for proposing the write-off. In addition, recommendations will be made as to whether the asset will  

CITY OF KELOWNA                                                         COUNCIL POLICY NO. 370 
                                                    Page 4 of 4 

 
remain with the Collection Agency for possible future recovery. 
  

B. Guidelines For Due Diligence Documentation: 

Departments that regularly have outstanding accounts receivable must keep adequate documentation to 
ensure that due diligence in collection efforts has been exercised. Due diligence is satisfied when: 

 
Statements or invoices are mailed monthly/quarterly; and 
Services are discontinued for delinquent customers; or  
Special reminders or collection letters are mailed for all past due accounts 
Bankruptcy claims filed by deadline 
Collection agency is used for all past due accounts 
Judgment awarded by court 

 
C. Denial of Requests 

20



Accounts Receivable Write-Off request may be denied based on the criteria listed below. If the request is 
denied it will be returned to the department and it will become the responsibility of the requesting department 
to make the necessary corrective actions. 

 
Criteria for Denial of Requests: 

 Insufficient collection efforts have been made or demonstrated 
 Accounts Receivable is not booked in the General Ledger 
 Existence of a Lien and future collection is possible 
 Knowledge that the debt will be collected in the future 
 Lack of proper approval 

 

 

Amendments - N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: February 3, 2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (JM) 

Application: 
OCP13-0008 
Z13-0009 

Owner: 
Black Mountain Irrigation 
District (BMID) 

Address: 
(OFF OF) Joe Riche Road 
(N OF) Joe Riche Road 
2458 Joe Riche Road 

Applicant: 
Agua Consulting Inc. (Bob 
Hrasko) 

Subject: Official Community Plan Amendment & Rezoning Applications  

Existing OCP Designation: 
REP – Resource Protection Area 
PARK – Major Park and Open Space 

Proposed OCP Designation: PSU – Public Service Utilities 

Existing Zone: A1 – Agriculture 1 

Proposed Zone: P4 – Utilities 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP13-0008 to amend Map 4.1 of the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500, by changing the Future Land Use 
designation of parts of Lot D, Section 18 and 19, Township 27, ODYD, Plan KAP80286, located on 
(N OF) Joe Riche Road, Kelowna, BC; Lot 19, Sections 17, 18 and 19, Township 27, ODYD, Plan 
1991, Except Plan 39110, located on (OFF OF) Joe Riche Road, Kelowna, BC; Lot 8, Sections 18 
and 19, Township 27, ODYD, Plan 1991, Except PlansKAP80286 and KAP87038, located on 2458 
Joe Riche Road, Kelowna, BC, from the REP – Resource Protection Area and the PARK – Major Park 
and Open Space designations to the PSU – Public Service Utilities designation, as shown on Map 
“A” attached to the Report of Urban Planning Department dated February 3, 2014, be considered 
by Council; 

AND THAT Council considers the Public Information Session public process to be appropriate 
consultation for the purpose of Section 879 of the Local Government Act, as outlined in the 
Report of the Urban Planning Department dated February 3, 2014. 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z13-0009 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of parts of Lot D, Section 18 and 19, Township 27, ODYD, Plan 
KAP80286, located on (N OF) Joe Riche Road, Kelowna, BC; Lot 19, Sections 17, 18 and 19, 
Township 27, ODYD, Plan 1991, Except Plan 39110, located on (OFF OF) Joe Riche Road, Kelowna, 
BC; Lot 8, Sections 18 and 19, Township 27, ODYD, Plan 1991, Except PlansKAP80286 and 

22



OCP13-0008 / Z13-0009 – Page 2 

 
 

KAP87038, located on 2458 Joe Riche Road, Kelowna, BC, from the A1 – Agriculture 1 zone to the 
P4 – Utilities zone as shown on Map “B” attached to the Report of the Urban Planning Department 
dated February 3, 2014, be considered by Council. 

AND THAT the Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment Bylaw and the Zone Amending Bylaw 
be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration. 

AND THAT, prior to final adoption, a Memorandum of Understanding respecting the conceptual 
alignment of linear parks through the subject properties be executed by both the City and the 
applicant, as outlined in the Report of the Urban Planning Department dated February 3, 2014. 

2.0 Purpose   

To consider a proposal to construct an ultra-violet water disinfection facility on a portion of the 
subject properties. An amendment to the Official Community Plan (OCP) Future Land Use 
designations for a portion of the subject properties is required from part AGR – Resource 
Protection Area and PARK – Major Park & Open Space, to part PSU – Public Service Utilities and 
PARK – Major Park & Open Space. A Rezoning from A1 – Agriculture 1 to P4 – Utilities is also 
required. 

3.0 Urban Planning Department 

City staff have worked with the applicant team for a considerable period of time to bring this 
project to a point where all parties are comfortable moving forward for Council consideration. 
While the project is technically separate from the larger reservoir project, the two must be 
considered as related for all practical purposes. With this in mind, the applicant has 
demonstrated the necessity of the treatment facility for the Black Mountain Irrigation District 
(BMID) water distribution system and the suitability of the location, given the potential 
development of the reservoir in the future. 

Nevertheless, the application presented several challenges. Chief among these was the trail 
system. Staff and the applicant team spent considerable effort to come to an agreement on an 
alternate tail alignment that both parties consider to meet or to exceed the City’s objectives. 
The alignment arrived at will provide a unique experience that allows trail users to traverse 
multiple types of Okanagan ecosystems, while also providing opportunities for exceptional valley 
views. 

In addition to this, the site is surrounded by environmentally sensitive riparian areas, including 
the bed of Gopher Creek, seasonally wetted areas, and a set of two wetlands. The applicant has 
worked with environmental planning staff to avoid, where possible, any environmentally sensitive 
areas. A Natural Environment Development Permit will be processed at a staff level for this 
project. 

Taking into consideration the above points, staff recommend support for both the OCP 
amendment and proposed Rezoning of the subject site.  

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

On October 29, 2012, Council forwarded to the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) an application 
by the proponent for a Non-Farm Use in order to allow the development of an ultra-violet (UV) 
water disinfection facility on a portion of the subject lands. On February 21, 2013, the ALC 
granted approval for the Non-Farm Use (See Resolution #87/2013).  

23



OCP13-0008 / Z13-0009 – Page 3 

 
 

The proposal for an ultra-violet (UV) disinfection facility is linked to a larger reservoir 
development project by BMID. Initially, the proponent made several concurrent applications to 
the City in order to receive approval for both projects at once. However, the two projects have 
very different timelines, and a different set of potential impacts. For these reasons, the single 
set of applications has subsequently been separated, with each project requiring its own set of 
land use approvals, including OCP amendments and Rezonings. This has allowed the time 
sensitive UV disinfection facility project with comparatively minor impacts to be advanced more 
quickly than the much more complex reservoir project. 

The subject properties contain significant components of the area’s linear park and recreational 
trail system (see attached OCP Linear Corridors/Paths). Early on in the application process, the 
applicant team objected to the trail alignment as shown in the OCP. In place of this, the 
applicant worked with City staff on an alternate alignment for the trail system, which has been 
agreed to at a conceptual level (see attached BMID Future Recreational Trail Plan). In order to 
defer trail dedication requirements until the major reservoir application proceeds, this 
conceptual alignment will be entrenched in a Memorandum of Understanding between the City 
and BMID. In this agreement, the applicant will be required to dedicate or to grant Statutory 
Right of Ways over the trail lands as part of the larger reservoir rezoning.  
 

The subject application was received prior to the establishment of Council Policy No. 367 
respecting applicant-driven public notification and consultation, and is considered exempt from 
its requirements. As a result, public notification will, in this instance, be limited to the formal 
notice signage and Public Hearing, should the application be favourably received by Council. 
Nevertheless, the Local Government Act requires that applicants for OCP amendments 
demonstrate early and ongoing consultation beyond what is offered by the standard Public 
Hearing. In fulfilment of this requirement, the applicant has provided a summary of consultation 
efforts undertaken in 2008/2009 regarding this project as well as the larger reservoir project (see 
attached BMID Public Consultation Summary). Staff acknowledge that this consultation is now 5-6 
years old; however, the proposal has not changed substantially in the interim. As part of the 
larger reservoir Rezoning process, additional public consultation efforts will be required.  

4.2 Project Description 

The applicant is proposing to develop a UV disinfection facility on the subject property to be 
linked to BMID’s existing water distribution infrastructure. According to the applicant, the 
disinfection facility is required “to upgrade our disinfection capacity so that all microbiological 
risk are effectively addressed” in accordance with BMID’s Operating Permit. 

The UV facility will be located in the southern portions of the subject properties (see attached 
Site Plan). The facility is composed of a total of four buildings, which will be phased in over 
several years. A driveway access runs from the buildings to the southwest where it meets Joe 
Riche Road. 

In order to link the treatment facility to the broader BMID water distribution infrastructure, the 
applicant will be installing underground piping to and from the facility. A Natural Environment 
Development Permit will need to be obtained prior to building construction and pipe installation.   

4.3 Site Context 

The subject site is located on the south end of three large parcels owned by BMID situated in the 
Belgo-Black Mountain sector of the city. None of the subject lots is presently developed, and 
cattle grazing has been the predominant use of the lands.  

24



OCP13-0008 / Z13-0009 – Page 4 

 
 

Within the larger parcels, the subject site rests on a bench which is surrounded on three sides 
(west, south, east) by riparian gulleys, featuring wetlands, Gopher Creek, and some seasonally 
wetted areas.  

The site is approximately 5.49ha in area and is presently zoned A1 – Agriculture 1. The OCP 
designation over the site is predominantly REP – Resource Protection Area, with a small portion 
around Gopher Creek being designated PARK – Major Park and Open Space. 

Significant grading has been undertaken under the existing zoning in preparation for this project, 
including full vehicular access and building sites. Also, a Fortis sub-station has been developed 
near to the subject site to the southeast.  

The area surrounding the subject site is varied, from a golf course and single detached dwellings, 
to ranch lands and open forest. Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North A1 – Agriculture 1 Rangeland 

East RDCO RDCO, open forest 

South 
A1 – Agriculture 1 
P4 – Utilities  

Agriculture 
Fortis Sub-station 

West 

A1 – Agriculture 1 
RU5 – Bareland Strata 
RU1 – Large Lot Housing 
RU1h – Large Lot Housing (hillside) 
RU2 – Medium Lot Housing 
RR2 – Rural Residential 2 
RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 

Varied residential development 

 

  

25



OCP13-0008 / Z13-0009 – Page 5 

 
 

Subject Property Map: Approximate UV Facility Site Location 
 

 

4.4 Zoning Analysis Table   

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA P4 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL* 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Site Area n/a  5.49 ha 

Lot Width n/a Varied 

Lot Depth n/a varied 

Development Regulations 
Height 10.0 m TBD 

Front Yard 6.0 m Exceeds  

Side Yard (east) 
4.5 m 

7.5 m adjacent to residential 
Exceeds  

Side Yard (west) 
4.5 m 

7.5 m adjacent to residential 
Exceeds  

Rear Yard 
4.5 m 

7.5 m adjacent to residential 
Exceeds 

* This zoning analysis only applies to the first of the proposed buildings. The remaining buildings will undergo zoning analysis at 

time of Building Permit. 

 

 

 

26



OCP13-0008 / Z13-0009 – Page 6 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies   

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

5.14.2. Dedication of Linear Parks.1 At subdivision and rezoning for all development types 
secure a minimum 10-metre wide linear corridor for public access as included in Table 5.1 Linear 
Park – Public Access and/or are shown on Map 5.9 – Linear Corridors / Paths. The 10-metre wide 
corridor may be in addition to, and outside, any riparian management area requirements imposed 
through the Environmental Development Permit (see Chapter 12) requirements of the OCP. On 
the private property side of the public access corridor, the City may, as necessary, consider 
stipulating additional “no disturb” zones. Lot line adjustments or other subdivision applications 
not resulting in the creation of new lots suitable for the construction of buildings permitted 
under the applicable zoning will be considered exempt from this policy. Linear trail corridors can 
have the following tenure which will be determined by staff at the time of subdivision or 
rezoning: 

• Titled property in the name of the city as a park, protected area, or 

• Road reserve right of way; or 

• Statutory right of way. 

5.14.3. Applicant’s Costs.2 Require that all survey and legal costs incurred with establishing the 
linear park dedication, as a result of a development application, be the responsibility of the 
applicant. 

5.15.1. No Net Loss of Aquatic Habitat Productivity.3 Require “no net loss” with respect to land 
use decisions that affect aquatic habitat based on the “no net loss” principle of the Department 
of Fisheries and Oceans policy. No individual land use or development project should result in a 
net loss in habitat productivity as determined through environmental assessment in land use 
decisions and project approvals that affect aquatic habitats as identified on the Natural 
Environment DP Map 5.5. In the long term the City will strive for a net gain in overall productivity 
of the city’s aquatic habitats. “Tradeoffs” in the interest of land development will only be 
supported when longterm net gains in habitat productivity can be substantiated. 

5.33.1. Protect Agricultural Land.4 Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the ALR and 
by protecting agricultural lands from development, except as otherwise noted in the City of 
Kelowna Agricultural Plan. Ensure that the primary use of agricultural land is agriculture, 
regardless of parcel size. 

Infrastructure – Water Servicing Policies 

Water Availability for Agriculture.5 Work with stakeholders to ensure the continued delivery of 
sufficient quantities of water as per best practices for water conservation to ensure continued 
agricultural productivity. 

Irrigation District Boundaries and Standards.6 Support the necessary amendments to Irrigation 
District Boundaries as identified on Map 7.4 – Water Supply System to allow expansion to un-
serviced areas, in accordance with the Kelowna Water Servicing Plan and overall OCP objectives 
                                                      
1 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011). Chapter 5 (Development Process), Policy 5.14.2. 
2 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011). Chapter 5 (Development Process), Policy 5.14.3. 
3 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011). Chapter 5 (Development Process), Policy 5.15.1. 
4 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011). Chapter 5 (Development Process), Policy 5.33.1. 
5 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011). Chapter 7 (Infrastructure), p. 7.12, Policy 7.20.1. 
6 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011). Chapter 7 (Infrastructure), p. 7.12, Policy 7.20.2. 

27



OCP13-0008 / Z13-0009 – Page 7 

 
 

and development phasing, and encourage new installations to be made to ensure compliance with 
the Canadian Drinking Water guidelines and Interior Health Authority water quality objectives. 

6.0 Technical Comments   

6.1 Development Engineering Department 

See attached Memorandum, dated February 27, 2013. 

6.2 Fire Department 

Ensure proper Fire Department access as per BCBC. 

6.3 FortisBC 

FortisBC (electric) does not have any objections to the BMID treatment facility as it is located 
outside of the Transmission line Right of Way and does not pose any risk to our lines or 
substation. 

7.0 Application Chronology   

Date of Application Received: February 12, 2013 

Agricultural Advisory Committee:   

The above noted application was considered by the Agricultural Advisory Committee as part 
of a previous application that included the reservoir at the meeting on September 13, 2012 
and the following recommendations were passed: 

THAT the Agricultural Advisory Committee support Agricultural Land Reserve Application 
No. A12-0008 for 2458 Joe Rich Road; (N OF) Joe Rich Road; (OFF OF) Joe Rich Road, by 
Agua Consulting Inc. (BMID), to obtain approval from the ALC under Section 20(3) of the 
Agricultural Land Commission Act for a Non-Farm Use within the Agricultural Land Reserve 
(ALR). 

THAT the Agricultural Advisory Committee support Official Community Plan Amendment 
No. OCP12-0007 to change the future land use designation of a portion of the subject 
property from the Resource Protection Area; Major Park/Open Space (public); Single/Two 
Unit Residential and Single/Two unit Residential (hillside) to the Resource Protection 
Area; Major park/Open Space (public) and Public Service Utilities and Rezoning 
Application No. Z12-0044 from the A1 – Agriculture 1 zone to the A1 – Agriculture 1 and P4 
–Utilities zone for 2458 Joe Rich Road; (N of) Joe Rich Road; (off of) Joe Rich Road, by 
Agua Consulting Inc. (BMID), in order to construct a new reservoir and associated water 
treatment facilities on portions of the subject properties. 

Report prepared by: 

     
James Moore, Land Use Planner  
 
 
 

28



OCP13-0008 / Z13-0009 – Page 8 

 
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 

Approved for Inclusion  D. Gilchrist, Div. Director, Community Planning & Real Estate 
  
 
 

Attachments:   

Subject Property Map (1 page) 
Site Context Plan (1 page) 
Site Development Plan (1 page) 
Map “A” – Proposed OCP (1 page) 
Map “B” – Proposed Zoning (1 page) 
OCP Linear Corridors/Paths (1 page) 
BMID Future Recreational Trail Plan (1 page) 
Applicant’s Summary of Consultation (23 pages) 
DRAFT – Memorandum of Understanding (5 pages) 
Development Engineering Memorandum, dated February 27, 2013 (1 page) 

29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: January 24, 2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (PMc) 

Application: OCP07-0022/Z07-0073 Owner: 
Al Stober         
Construction Ltd. 

Address: 
2728 Pandosy Street (formerly 
477 Osprey Ave. and 2728 
Pandosy Street) 

Applicant: 
Meiklejohn                 
Architects Inc 

Subject: Rescinding Bylaw No. 10265 and 10266  

Existing OCP Designation:  Mixed Use (Residential/Commercial) (MXR) 

Existing Zone: P2 – Education and Minor Institutional 

Proposed Zone: C4 – Urban centre Commercial 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT OCP Amending Bylaw No. 10265 (OCP07-0022) and Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10266 (Z07-
0073) for the property located on a portion of Lot 1, DL 14, O.D.Y.D., Plan KAP 91460 (formerly 
known as Lot 1, DL14, O.D.Y.D., Plan 4280 – Located at 477 Osprey Ave., Kelowna BC,) be 
forwarded for rescindment consideration; 

AND THAT staff be directed to close the file. 

2.0 Purpose 

To authorize the rescinding of first, second, and third readings given to OCP Amending Bylaw No. 
10265 (OCP07-0022) and Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10266 (Z07-0073) and to close the file. 

3.0 Land Use Management 

OCP Amending Bylaw No. 10265 (OCP07-0022) and Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10266 (Z07-0073) for 
a portion of Lot 1, DL 14, O.D.Y.D., Plan KAP91460 (formerly known as Lot 1, DL 14, O.D.Y.D., 
Plan 4280 – Located at 477 Osprey Ave. Kelowna BC,) received second and third readings on 
December 15, 2009, after the Public Hearing held on the same date.  
 
The applicant was proposing to develop the consolidated site with a seven storey, mixed-use 
development consisting of grade level retail, five storeys of office uses, and one storey of 
apartment housing.   

76



OCP07-0022 / Z07-0073 – Page 2 

 
 

 
After a number of extensions and attempts to facilitate the project moving forward the applicant 
has indicated that the project will not be advancing in the near future and that the file should be 
closed. As such, Urban Planning Staff recommend that Council rescind 1st, 2nd and 3rd readings of 
both associated bylaws, and that the files be closed.  

Report prepared by: 

 

     
Paul McVey – Urban Planning  
 
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith, Manager, Urban Land Use 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Doug Gilchrist, Divisional Director,  
     Community Planning & Real Estate 
 

Attachments:  

Subject Property Map 
Site Plan 
 

77



78



79



80



81



82



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: February 3, 2014 

RIM No. 0940-40 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (AR) 

Application: DP13-0170 Owner: 
CTQ Holdings Ltd., Inc.     
No. BC0978670 

Address: 1334 St. Paul Street Applicant: CTQ Holdings Ltd. 

Subject: Development Permit 

Existing OCP Designation: Mixed Use (Residential/Commercial) 

Existing Zone: I2 – General Industrial 

Proposed Zone: C7 – Central Business Commercial 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT final adoption of Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10906 be considered by Council;  
 

AND THAT Council authorizes the issuance of Development Permit No. DP13-0170 for Lot 17, 
District Lot 139, ODYD, Plan 645, located at 1334 St. Paul Street, Kelowna, BC, subject to 
the following:  
 

1.  The dimensions and siting of the building to be constructed on the land be in general 
accordance with Schedule “A”;  

 
2.  The exterior design and finish of the building to be constructed on the land, be in general 

accordance with Schedule “B”;  
 
3.  Landscaping to be provided on the land be in general accordance with Schedule “C”;  
 
4.  The applicant be required to post with the City, a Landscape Performance Security 

deposit in the form of a “Letter of Credit” in the amount of 125% of the estimated value 
of the landscaping, as determined by a professional Landscape Architect;  

 
AND FURTHER THAT the applicant be required to complete the above-noted condition No. 4 
within 180 days of Council’s approval of the Development Permit Application in order for the 
permit to be issued. 
 

83



DP13-0170 – Page 2 

 
 

2.0 Purpose 

To consider the form and character of the proposed exterior renovation of the existing building 
on the subject property. 

3.0 Urban Planning Department 

Urban Planning staff is supportive of the Development Permit for the proposed exterior 
renovation of the existing building onsite for office use under the C7 – Central Business 
Commercial zone, as it is seen to be consistent with the Mixed Use (Residential/Commercial) land 
use designation for the subject site, and contributes to the gradual transition of former industrial 
properties to mixed-use commercial within the Downtown City Centre area.  

The proposed façade renovation and introduction of front yard landscaping will significantly 
benefit the visual attractiveness of this site, and contribute positively to the overall 
improvement of St. Paul Street and Kelowna’s Downtown.   

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

In October 2013, a Rezoning application was submitted under Z13-0039 to rezone the subject 
property from I2 – General Industrial zone to C7 – Central Business Commercial zone to enable re-
use of the existing building for office use, specifically for the business offices of the present 
corporate property owner as they are seeking to relocate to the downtown area.  

On January 21, 2014, Council gave 2nd and 3rd readings to the proposed Rezoning subject to 
conditions, including the consideration of a Development Permit application prior to final 
adoption of the zoning amending bylaw. The applicant has now successfully satisfied the 
conditions of zoning. 

4.2 Project Description 

The existing, 2-storey building on the subject property was constructed in the 1970s and has been 
used for a limited range of office and commercial uses permissible under the former I2 zone over 
the years (e.g., business support services, participant recreational services).  

As part of the proposal to re-use the subject building for the current corporate property owner’s 
offices, the building’s frontage is proposed to be renovated and modernized, including a new 
stucco finish and painting; the replacement of windows, doors, and entrance awning; and 
introduction of front yard landscaping. Sufficient vehicular and bicycle parking can be provided 
onsite, in the existing rear yard parking area with access from the rear lane. 

4.3 Site Context 

This 690 m2 site is located mid-block on the west side of St. Paul Street, between Doyle and 
Cawston Avenues, in the Downtown Urban Centre. It is neighboured by multi-storey, mixed-use 
development to the west and east.  

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North I2 - General Industrial Vacant 

East C7 – Central Business District Mixed-Use Development (St. Paul Place) 

South I2 - General Industrial 2-Storey Commercial Building 

West C7 – Central Business District Mixed-Use Development (Ellis Court) 

 

84



DP13-0170 – Page 3 

 
 

Subject Property Map: 1334 St. Paul Street 

 

The conceptual proposal compares to the proposed C7 zone requirements as follows: 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA C7 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Lot Area 200 m2 689.7 m2 

Lot Width 6 m 15.24 m 

Lot Depth 30 m 45.26 m 

Development Regulations 
Floor Area Ratio 9.0 FAR 0.61 

Height 44 m 8 m (2 storeys) 

Front Yard 0 m 1.2 m 

Side Yard (south) 0 m 0 m 

Side Yard (north) 0 m 0 m 

Rear Yard 0 m 24.9 m 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking Requirements 6 spaces 7 spaces 

Bicycle Parking 3 Class I / 1 Class II Provided 

Loading Space 1 space Provided 

 

  

85



DP13-0170 – Page 4 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) - Chapter 5 - Development Process  

Compact Urban Form. Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done 
by increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 
metre walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) 
through development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 
5.3) in particular and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land 
Use Map 4.1. 

Policy 4 – Downtown Development. Support rezoning to C7 use in the downtown Urban 
Centre area only where properties are surrounded on a minimum of 3 sides by existing C7 
zoning. The intent of this policy is to support intensification within the existing core areas 
of the Downtown.  

5.2 Urban Design DP Areas (OCP Chapter 14) – Revitalization Design Guidelines 

Objectives 

 Use appropriate architectural features and detailing of buildings and landscapes to 
define area character; 

 Convey a strong sense of authenticity through high quality urban design that is 
distinctive of Kelowna; 

 Enhance the urban centre’s main street character in a manner consistent with the 
area’s character; 

 Provide for a scale and massing of buildings that promotes an enjoyable living, 
pedestrian, working, shopping and service experience; 

 Encourage an appropriate mix of uses and housing types and sizes; 

 Design and facilitate beautiful public open spaces that encourage year-round 
enjoyment; 

 Create open, architecturally-pleasing and accessible building facades to the street; 

 Improve existing streets and sidewalks to promote alternative transportation. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

1) Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any Building 
Permit(s); 

2) A Building Code analysis is required for the structure at time of building permit applications, 
but the following items may affect the form and character of the building(s): 
a) The Main floor layout appears to have altered the integrity of the exit stairwell, so 

revisions may be required or an alternative solution may be required. The architect or 
engineer of record acting as prime consultant is required to submit for an alternative 
solution as per the requirements outlined in the 2012 edition of the British Columbia 
Building Code. 

b) The rated fire doors at the top of the main stairwell have been removed from the original 
permit acceptance drawings and are required to maintain the integrity of the fire exit or 
an alternative solution is required to be approved to maintain minimum code 
requirements. 

c) The exiting of the 2nd floor does not appear to meet minimum code requirements 
(number of exits, travel distance, interconnected floor space, stair rating etc).  

86



DP13-0170 – Page 5 

 
 

d) The rear exit stairs shown are required to be rated and not allowed to pass in front of 
main floor windows. The architect of record is to address the fire safety requirements of 
the code in the permit application drawings. 

e) Guard rails are required for the new rear deck along with any provisions for gates and 
locks provided in the permit application drawing sets; 

3) A Structural and Architectural consult will be required to provide drawings and schedules for 
the new rear deck at time of permit application. The architect of record is to address the 
NAFS requirements for the installation of the new the doors and windows and provide the 
appropriate modelling for minimum code compliance to ASHRAE 90.1; 

4) Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See attached Development Engineering Memorandum, dated January 27, 2014 

6.3 Fire Department 

No concerns. 

6.4 FortisBC (Electric) 

There are primary distribution facilities along St. Paul Street and within the lane adjacent to the 
subject's west property line.  The applicant is responsible for costs associated with any change to 
subject's existing service, if any, as well as the provision of appropriate land rights where 
required. Otherwise, FortisBC Inc. (Electric) has no concerns with this circulation. In order to 
initiate the design process, the customer must call 1-866-4FORTIS (1-866-436-7847). It should be 
noted that additional land rights issues may arise from the design process but can be dealt with 
at that time, prior to construction.   

6.5 Shaw Cable 

Shaw Communications’ interests are unaffected. The applicant should contact Shaw regarding 
future cable services. 

6.6 Telus 

TELUS will provide underground facilities to this development.  Developer will be required to 
supply and install conduit as per TELUS policy. 

7.0 Application Chronology 

Date of Application Received:   October 23, 2013  
Public Hearing:      January 21, 2014 
Satisfaction of conditions of zoning adoption: January 27, 2014 
 
Report prepared by: 
 
 
                                     

Abigail Riley, Planner II, Urban Planning 
  

87



DP13-0170 – Page 6 

 
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith, Manager, Urban Planning 
 

Approved for Inclusion  Doug Gilchrist, Divisional Director, Community Planning &  
Real Estate 

Attachments: 

Subject Property Map 
Site Plan 
Building Elevations 
Conceptual Floor Plans 
Landscape Plan 
Context/Site Photos 
Development Engineering Memorandum, dated January 27, 2014  

88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 2/3/2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (AW) 

Application: DP10-0047 Owner: Jasvinder Kandola 

Address: 1053 Laurier Avenue Applicant: GTA Architecture Inc. 

Subject: Development Permit  

Existing OCP Designation: Multiple Unit Residential – Low Density & Commercial 

Proposed OCP Designation: Multiple Unit Residential – Low Density 

Existing Zone: RU6 - Two Dwelling Housing 

Proposed Zone: RM3 – Low Density Multiple Housing 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Council authorize the issuance of Development Permit No. DP10-0047 for Lot 1, District Lot 
138, ODYD, Plan KAP91928, located at 1053 Laurier Avenue, Kelowna B.C., subject to the 
following: 
 
1. The dimensions and siting of the building to be constructed on the land be in general  

accordance with Schedule "A"; 
 
2. The exterior design and finish of the building to be constructed on the land be in general  

accordance with Schedule “B”; 
 
3. Landscaping to be provided on the land be in general accordance with Schedule "C". 
 
4. Permeable pavers be provided in the parking areas as shown on Schedule “C” 
 
AND THAT the applicant be required to complete the above-noted condition No. 3 within 180 
days of Council approval of the Development Permit application in order for the permit to be 
issued. 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider a Development Permit for the form and character of three 4 plex buildings for a total 
of 12 units.  

98



DP10-0047 – Page 2 

 
 

3.0 Land Use Management  

The project introduces a sympathetic height profile that is sensitively integrated into the existing 
residential neighbourhood. A project of this nature could act as a catalyst for similar projects in 
the future. The proposed design is an appropriate response to a land use transition from 
residential to commercial which occurs in this area. As the project is located just outside the 
Capri Urban Centre there are a number of amenities within walking distance.   
 
The separation of the project into three buildings reduces the massing of the development. The 
proposed colours and materials are of a high quality and will fit well within the neighbourhood. 
The proposed development has a modern architectural style that will maintain a strong 
residential character as this neighbourhood transitions. The private open space will be located on 
private decks. In conjunction with the overall form and character of the buildings, the result will 
be a pleasingly residential feel. Given the positive attributes of the development discussed 
above, Staff support the proposal. 
 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

The purpose of this application is to rezone the subject properties from RU6 – Two Dwelling 
Housing to RM3 – Low Density Multiple Housing and to amend the Official Community Plan (OCP) 
for the property located at 1069 Laurier Avenue from Commercial to Multiple Unit Residential – 
Low Density in order to accommodate the development of three separate 4-plex developments.  

At present the subject properties are not served by a rear lane, and as such the applicant has 
proposed a private drive aisle to access the rear of the development and to screen the parking 
behind the buildings. In order to accommodate the drive aisle and to screen the parking from the 
street the applicant is proposing to maximize the permitted site coverage. In order to help offset 
the increased site coverage, permeable pavers will be used for the parking area. The proposed 
colours and materials consist of two different stuccos, stone veneer and stained wood facia. A 
number of trees are proposed along the street frontage while a few trees will be located within 
the parking area.  

The application compares to the requirements of Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 as follows: 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA RM3 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Development Regulations 

Floor Area Ratio 0.75  0.5 

Height 10m / 3 Storeys  6.9 m / 2 Storeys 

Front Yard 1.5m  4.5m 

Side Yard (east) 4.0m  4.5m 

Side Yard (west) 4.0m  4.5m 

Rear Yard 7.5m 15.4m 

Building Separation 3.0m 4.5m 

Site Coverage (Building) 40% 28% 

Site Coverage (Building, 
parking, driveway) 

65% with provision of 
permeable pavers 

65% with provision of 
permeable pavers 

Other Regulations 

99



DP10-0047 – Page 3 

 
 

Minimum Parking 
Requirements 

24 stalls 24 stalls 

Bicycle Parking 
Class I – 6 spaces 
Class II – 2 spaces 

Class I – 12 spaces (In Unit) 
Class II – 2 spaces 

Private Open Space 300m2 350m2  

 

4.2 Subject Property Map: 1053 Laurier Avenue 

 

The surrounding area has been developed with a variety of uses. The adjacent land uses are as 
follows: 

Direction Zoning Designation Land Use 

North C9 – Tourist Commercial 
RU6 - Two Dwelling Housing 

Commercial / 
Residential 

West RU6 - Two Dwelling Housing Residential 

South RU6 - Two Dwelling Housing & C4 – Urban Centre Commercial Residential / 
Commercial 

East C4 – Urban Centre Commercial Residential / 
Commercial 

 
 
 
 
 

100



DP10-0047 – Page 4 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form.1 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

Ground-Oriented Housing.2 Encourage all multi-unit residential buildings in neighbourhoods with 
schools and parks to contain ground-oriented units with 2 or more bedrooms to provide a family 
housing choice within multi-unit rental or ownership markets. High density residential projects in 
the Downtown area are encouraged to include a ground-oriented housing component, especially 
where such can be provided on non-arterial and non-collector streets.’ 

5.2 Urban Design Development Permit Areas (Chapter 14) – Revitalization Design Guidelines 

 
Objectives 

 Use appropriate architectural features and detailing of buildings and landscapes to 
define area character; 

 Convey a strong sense of authenticity through high quality urban design that is 
distinctive of Kelowna; 

 Enhance the urban centre’s main street character in a manner consistent with the 
area’s character; 

 Provide for a scale and massing of buildings that promotes an enjoyable living, 
pedestrian, working, shopping and service experience; 

 Encourage an appropriate mix of uses and housing types and sizes; 

 Design and facilitate beautiful public open spaces that encourage year-round 
enjoyment; 

 Create open, architecturally-pleasing and accessible building facades to the street; 
and 

 Improve existing streets and sidewalks to promote alternative transportation. 
 

Guidelines 
Relationship to the Street (Objective 2.0) 

 Ensure streetwall height is proportional (0.75:1 maximum) to the width of the street 
as measured from building face to building face. Any development that exceeds this 
height must utilize a podium and step back above the streetwall; 

 Provide for public movement, street furniture, and building access zones to be 
incorporated into sidewalks adjacent to development; 

 Design buildings to occupy 100% of a property’s frontage along streets, eliminating 
elements that disrupt the streetwall such as off-street parking, dead spaces, empty 
lots, or driveways; 

 Coordinate building setbacks with adjacent sidewalks to increase the space for public 
use (i.e., utilize a building setback or building indentation as a patio space or seating 

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.2.3 (Development Process Chapter). 
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.23.1 (Development Process Chapter). 

101



DP10-0047 – Page 5 

 
 

area, incorporate corner rounding into the public realm with specialized paving 
treatment and street furniture); 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Potential spatial issues between buildings that may affect the amount of unprotected 
openings. This may affect the form and character of the buildings from the sides only. The 
designer to provide spatial calculations at time of building permit application. 

 Architectural drawings for building permit require a code analysis. Also required on the 
drawings are details on the fire separations between units along with the rating(s) of the man 
doors at time of building permit application. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

Addressed with Z10-0031. 

6.3 Fire Department 

Visible addressing for each unit is required from Laurier Ave. No parking signs are to be provided 
along the access lane 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: April 21st, 2010 
Public Hearing:    July 12th, 2010 
Zoning Conditions Addressed: January 27th, 2014 

Report prepared by: 

     
Alec Warrender, Land Use Planner  
 
 
 

Reviewed by:   Ryan Smith, Manager, Urban Land Use 
 

Approved Inclusion:  D. Gilchrist, Community Planning & Real Estate Divisional Director 

 

Attachments:  

Site Plan 
Building Elevations 
Conceptual Elevations 
Landscape Plan 
 

102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: February 3, 2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (AR) 

Application: Z11-0035 Owner:  Robert & Michelle Geismayr 

Address: 1599 KLO Rd Applicant: Robert & Michelle Geismayr 

Subject: 
Rezoning Extension Application  
 

Existing OCP Designation: S2RES – Single/Two Unit Residential 

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT in accordance with Development Application Procedures Bylaw No. 10540, the deadline for 
the adoption of Amending Bylaw No. 10569 (Z11-0035), Lot 4, District Lot 131, ODYD, Plan 17156, 
except Plan KAP78069, located at 1599 KLO Road, Kelowna, BC be extended from February 9, 
2014 to February 9, 2015; 

AND FURTHER THAT Council directs staff not to accept further extension requests. 

2.0 Purpose 

The applicant is seeking an extension for an application to rezone the subject property from the 
RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing zone, to permit the construction 
of a second single family dwelling on the subject site. 

3.0      Urban Planning Department 

Section 2.12.1 of Procedure Bylaw No. 10540 states that: 

In the event that an application made pursuant to this bylaw is one (1) year old 
or older and has been inactive for a period of six (6) months or greater: 

a) The application will be deemed to be abandoned and the applicant will be 
notified in writing that the file will be closed; 

b) Any bylaw that has not received final adoption will be of no force and 
effect; 

112



Z11-0035 – Page 2 

 
 

c) In the case of an amendment application, the City Clerk will place on the 
agenda of a meeting of Council a motion to rescind all readings of the 
bylaw associated with that Amendment application. 

 
Section 2.12.2 of the Procedures Bylaw makes provision for Council to consider an extension to 
an amending bylaw for up to a period of twelve (12) months. 

  
By-Law No. 10569 received second and third readings on August 9, 2011 after the Public Hearing 
held on the same date. The bylaw has received two (2) prior extensions from Council, the latest 
of which expires on February 9, 2014. The applicant wishes to have the application remain open 
for an additional twelve (12) months from the previous extension granted by Council on March 25, 
2013 in order to secure the finance costs to meet site servicing requirements. This project 
remains unchanged and is the same in all respects as originally applied for. 
 
This is the third extension that the applicant has requested. The owners are presently living 
abroad until June 2014 and submitted an extension application in August 2013 in anticipation, so 
that the outstanding requirements of rezoning could be addressed following their return home. 
The requested extension would afford reasonable time in which to satisfy the outstanding 
requirements. 

 
The Urban Development Branch recommends Council consider the subject request for an 
extension favourably. The Branch also recommends Council direct staff not to accept further 
extension requests.  

Report prepared by: 

     

Abigail Riley, Planner II, Urban Planning 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith - Manager, Urban Planning 
 

Approved for Inclusion  Doug Gilchrist - Divisional Director, Community Planning &     
                                Real Estate 
 

Attachments:  

Subject Property Map 

113



114



115



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
January 29, 2014 
 

File: 
 

0710-20 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Sandra Kochan, Cultural Services Manager 

Subject: 
 

2014 Professional Arts Operating Grants 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT COUNCIL receives, for information, the report dated January 29, 2014 from the Cultural 
Services Manager; 
 
AND THAT COUNCIL approves 2014 Professional Arts Operating Grants as recommended in the 
report dated January 29, 2014 from the Cultural Services Manager, for the following 
organizations: 
- $25,000 to the Okanagan Artists Alternative Association (operating as Alternator Centre for 
Contemporary Art); and 
- $55,000 to the Okanagan Symphony Society 
 
AND FURTHER THAT COUNCIL directs staff to report back with information and 
recommendations regarding 2014 funding for the Kelowna Ballet Society. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To approve distribution of annual grants-in-aid to professional arts organizations. 
 
Background: 
 
Professional Arts Grants are available for: 
‘Organizations that have ongoing paid professional artistic leadership and administration and 
that pay principle artistic contributors for their services in accordance with generally 
accepted professional standards. Eligible activities include creative collaboration between 
professional artists and community members.’ 
 
For the last several years, three Kelowna-based organizations have received annual 
Professional Arts Grants: 

 Okanagan Artists Alternative Association (operating as Alternator Centre for 
Contemporary Art) – 2013 funding $25,000; 

 Kelowna Ballet Society (operating as Ballet Kelowna) – 2013 funding $30,000; and 

116



 Okanagan Symphony Society – 2013 funding $55,000. 
 
Staff is not aware of any additional non-profit arts organizations which currently meet the 
eligibility requirements for professional arts funding. However, this may change in the future. 
 
The total funding available for Professional Arts Grants in 2014 is $110,000. 
 
Review of Festivals Kelowna programs and services is typically part of the annual professional 
arts grant process. With the expiry of the Festivals Kelowna Service Agreement at the end of 
2013, a comprehensive review was carried out during the recently completed proposal and 
Service Agreement renewal process. Information will be forthcoming in a direct report by the 
organization to Council in March, 2014. Festivals Kelowna funding is a stand-alone item in 
base budget and is governed by the terms of the Service Agreement, and therefore approval 
of the funding is not requested in this report. 
 
Update regarding Ballet Kelowna: 
Approximately one year ago, staff were advised that Ballet Kelowna intended to cancel a 
portion of its 2012/13 performance season and wind down its operations. Since that time, the 
Society has attracted considerable support from the community and other funders which 
enabled the completion of most of the 2012/13 season and reinstatement of its dancers and 
performances for the 2013/14 season. The current season will conclude with a performance 
at the Kelowna Community Theatre on April 25 which will also mark the retirement of 
founding Artistic Director David LaHay. 
 
On January 23, 2014 the organization publicly announced that, through a team composed of a 
new Board of Directors, an interim Executive Director and an experienced non-profit 
consultant, they are immediately embarking on a selection process for Mr. LaHay’s successor. 
Also underway is preliminary planning and budgeting for the 2014/15 season. Although the 
organization’s financial projections to fiscal year end June 30, 2014 are positive, financial 
information about the 2014/15 fiscal year needs to be reviewed by staff in order to provide 
2014 funding recommendations to Council. 
 
Staff are advised that additional information will be available from Ballet Kelowna in mid-to-
late February and staff will return with another report and recommendations at that time. In 
the interim, funding decisions for the other two professional organizations can and should 
proceed. 
 
Representatives of Ballet Kelowna will provide a Public in Attendance report to Council in 
March, 2014. 
 
Professional Arts Grant process: 
The review process has been in place since 2010 and consists of: 

 a written request to each organization in mid-October, 2013 for various financial, 
programming and organizational information. The deadline for submission of these 
materials was November 29, 2013; 

 a staff review in January, 2014 of submitted materials and previous years’ evaluations 
and reports. The review focused on three key areas: finances, programming and 
governance; 

 an in person meeting between Cultural Services staff and management representatives 
from each organization during the week of January 20, 2014; 

117



 pending approval of grants by Council, preparation of review notes with a follow up 
letter to each organization. In some cases more information has been requested and 
recommendations for improvement in particular areas have been noted. 

 
Organization presentations to Council are tentatively scheduled as follows: 
 

March 3 – Okanagan Symphony 
March 10 – Festivals Kelowna 
 

March 17 – Ballet Kelowna 
March 24 – Alternator Centre

The highlights from the staff review are provided in the attached Appendix A. 
 
Internal Circulation: 
Director, Active Living & Culture Division 
Communications Consultant, Communications & Information Services 
 
Existing Policy: 
Council Policy 274 – Cultural Policy 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Active Living & Culture base budget, administered through Cultural Services, for grants-in-aid 
to professional arts organizations is a total of $110,000 to be distributed among eligible 
organizations in accordance with the annual review/approval process. The existing base 
budget for Festivals Kelowna is $248,500. 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements 
Personnel Implications 
External Agency/Public Comments 
Communications Comments 
Alternate Recommendation 
 
 
Submitted by:  

 

S. Kochan, Cultural Services Manager 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 J. Gabriel, Director, Active Living & Culture Division 
 
 
cc: Director, Active Living & Culture Division 
 Communications Consultant, Communications & Information Services 
 General Manager, Okanagan Symphony Orchestra 
 Executive Director, Alternator Centre for Contemporary Art 
 Interim Executive Director, Ballet Kelowna 
 

  

118



APPENDIX A – 2014 PROFESSIONAL ARTS OPERATING GRANTS 
JANUARY 29, 2014 Report from the Cultural Services Manager 

 
Highlights from staff review: 
 
Okanagan Symphony: 
Programming: 
2013/14 is the Symphony’s 54th season. Maestra Rosemary Thomson and the orchestra 
continue to offer a diverse repertoire for audiences of all ages and interests including 
Masterworks performances, Family Matinees, a special Christmas concert, and the 
commissioning of new work. Planning is also well underway for the 2014/15 season. 
 
Highlights from both seasons: 

 November 2013 ‘Birthday Bash’ – in celebration of the 25th anniversary of the Youth 
Symphony of the Okanagan, this program featured 16 year old Armstrong violinist 
Colleen Venables who has performed with the Youth Symphony and the Okanagan 
Symphony for many years. In 2012, Ms. Venables was the only Canadian and one of 
twenty in the world accepted to the finals of the Yehudi Menuhin Junior competition. 
Repertoire included a world premiere of new work composed by Youth Symphony 
founder Imant Raminsh. The concert’s finale, Tschaikovsky’s 1812 Overture, brought 
together 117 musicians from both orchestras on one stage. 

 

 March 2014 ‘Symphonic Slam with Shane’ – special project grants have enabled the 
Symphony to commission new work by Vancouver based composers Jocelyn Morlock 
and Jordan Nobles, and new text from renowned poet Shane Koyczan which will be set 
to new and existing orchestral music. This performance is a world premiere for these 
new works. 

 

 May 2014 ‘Asian Celebration’ – this program during Asian Heritage Month features 
Ensemble Liberta from Kelowna’s Sister City, Kasugai, Japan, visiting violin soloist 
Suzanne Hou performing ‘The Butterfly Lovers Violin Concerto’ written for her father 
who was imprisoned during China’s cultural revolution, and the local Yamabiko Taiko 
Drummers with the orchestra for a dramatic finale. Music from five different Asian 
cultures is included in the program. 

 

 November 2014 Family Matinee – in collaboration with Okanagan Rhythmic Gymnastics, 
the Symphony will create an entirely new program built around dance and gymnastic 
elements, designed to appeal to family and young audiences. 

 

 March 2015 ‘Your Story at the Symphony’ – building on a successful initial project in 
2012, the Symphony will once again reach out to the community to engage children 
and youth in innovative, original performance for a Family Matinee. A writing contest 
for SD23 students will bring the winners on stage to recite their work alongside the 
orchestra, and a collaboration with Bumbershoot Childrens Theatre will help bring the 
stories to life with costumes and movement. 

 
The total audience for Symphony programs in 2013 was 17,348. Kelowna audiences 
represented 50 per cent of this total. The subscriber base in Kelowna is holding steady and 
the subscriber base in Penticton and Vernon is showing modest growth. This is positive given 
that many orchestras in North America are experiencing a decline in subscriptions. 

119



Attendance at school programs has increased by 117 per cent over previous years and shows 
are being added in Kelowna and Vernon. 
 
The orchestra continues to be an influential and effective collaborator in the community by 
involving other groups in its performances, reaching out across cultures, genres and 
disciplines, and contributing time and effort to initiatives led by others. 
 
Financial: 
City of Kelowna funding remains at approximately 5 per cent of the Symphony’s total budget. 
In recognition of the orchestra’s regional presence, both the Regional District of North 
Okanagan and the City of Penticton are also providing a total of $19,000 in additional 
operating support. 
 
The BC Arts Council and the Canada Council for the Arts continue to provide both operating 
and project support, and the organization recently qualified for increased access to Gaming 
funding. 
 
The organization’s overall financial picture remains positive, with robust levels of earned 
revenue (45 per cent of total budget) and fundraising (26 per cent). Fiscal year end 2013 
indicates a positive net return of just under 10 per cent which provides stability and the 
ability to manage contingencies. A total of four fundraising events are planned for 2014, 
organized by a volunteer committee. 
 
Production costs account for approximately 65 per cent of expenditures. 
 
Organizational: 
The 8 member Board of Directors includes representation from communities throughout the 
Okanagan, with a strong skill set including legal, financial planning, business administration, 
fundraising and HR. 
 
The Board, with assistance from a professional consultant, has embarked on a major strategic 
planning project which will emphasize the use of market research to prioritize programming 
and demographic targets. One of the main priorities is completing a thorough audience 
survey/analysis. The Board has also prioritized improved governance training. 
 
The organization has very active committees including Programming, Development, Strategic 
Planning, Finance and Events. 
 
The Orchestra employs 18 core musicians through a multi-year collective agreement, as well 
as a full time Executive Director and a number of contract positions including Music Director, 
Office Administrator, Personnel/Stage Manager and Marketing/Customer Service. 
 
The Symphony will, in spring 2014, be moving into its new office space at Knowles House, a 
City-owned heritage building at the corner of Ethel Street and Bernard Avenue. This space 
enables the Symphony to house storage, staff and meeting space in one location, and also 
provides an easily accessible and welcoming location for the public to purchase tickets and 
obtain information. 
  

120



 
Alternator Centre for Contemporary Art: 
Programming: 
The Alternator’s mandate is to provide an alternative forum and venue for a range of 
contemporary art practices including performance, video, installation, visual art and 
interventions in the public realm. Many of their programs and projects engage with social 
issues. 
 
Founded in 1988, the Alternator is the longest-established Artist-Run Centre in the interior of 
the province, and is one of only 70 such Centres in the country to receive ongoing operating 
funding from the Canada Council for the Arts. There are over 170 Artist-Run Centres in 
Canada. The Centre is prominently located on the main floor of the Rotary Centre for the 
Arts, directly across from the main reception desk. 
 
All professional artists who exhibit at the Alternator are paid in accordance with CARFAC 
(Canadian Artists Representation) standard fee schedules. As part of exhibiting at the Centre, 
artists are encouraged to consider how their work can be shared with the community beyond 
the gallery walls, through activities and events. 
 
The Centre currently has 300 members predominantly in the 18-35 age range. Membership is 
provided at reasonable cost and volunteers who work a prescribed number of hours are 
eligible for no-cost membership. 
 
The Alternator has a significant on line and social media presence through a variety of 
platforms. Attendance for Centre programming in 2013 was 7,780 which represents an 
increase of approximately 19 per cent over 2012. 
 
The Centre provides a spectrum of opportunities for artists in a variety of ways and spaces: 

a) The Members’ Gallery provides exhibition and presentation space for members from 
the community who can show their work, and host events and activities which 
contribute to the development of their creative careers. This space and the Centre’s 
Community Programming Policy has enabled new connections with local groups as 
diverse as Studio 9 School of the Arts, Okanagan Rainbow Coalition and the Orchard 
Valley Quilters Guild, as well as UBCO students and the technology community. The 
Alternator is assisting Accelerate Okanagan with complementary programming for 
StartUp Week in March, 2014. 

b) The Main Gallery continues to host exhibitions by Canadian and international 
professional contemporary artists, with a focus on work which is engaged, 
experimental and collaborative. Themes for professional exhibitions in 2014 include 
contemporary interpretations of the ‘archive,’ environment, land use and 
development, and modern versus antiquated materials and processes. This space will 
host five major exhibitions in 2014, featuring artists from the UK, Alberta, Nova 
Scotia, Quebec and British Columbia. In order to deepen community engagement 
around professional exhibitions, the Centre will produce a series of free broadsheets 
with content from local writers and curators which will use clear, concise language 
and create a welcoming point of entry for people who may not be familiar with the 
Centre or contemporary art practice. 

c) Local artists can submit proposals for use of the Alternator’s Studio 111 space at the 
Rotary Centre for the Arts as an incubator for new projects. In the past the space has 
been used for production of a local ‘zine, creation of the Father Pandosy sculpture by 

121



local artist Crystal Przybille, and a 6 month residency by Cool Arts. Crystal Przybille is 
returning to the studio in 2014 for work on her new sculpture of Chief Sookinchute. 

d) The Centre will host six sessions of its ongoing Alterknowledge discussion series, co-
presented with UBCO. Topics are inspired by current professional programming at the 
Centre and presented through the lens of the University’s Cultural Studies program. 

e) Further partnership with UBCO is reflected in the continuing Intermission series of five 
exhibitions which allows UBCO Fine Arts students to gain necessary skills in curating, 
installing, marketing and discussing their work. 

 
Financial: 
Reinstatement of Gaming funding and increased support from the City of Kelowna and the BC 
Arts Council has stabilized the Alternator’s finances and enabled paid part-time assistance for 
the single full time staff person. This has, in turn, allowed for development of additional 
programming and community engagement. 
 
Funds from the City of Kelowna constitute approximately 18 per cent of the Centre’s annual 
operating budget. This is combined with a significant amount of provincial and federal 
support. Government funds represent approximately 81 per cent of the total budget. 
 
Three major fundraising initiatives are planned for 2014. Fundraising revenue is 
approximately 6 per cent of the organization’s annual budget. 
 
Organizational: 
An eight-member volunteer Board of Directors represents a good range of skills in accounting, 
volunteer management, outreach and critical discourse, and is involved in five active 
committees: Volunteer, Events, Fundraising, HR and Programming. The Board’s involvement 
has contributed to an improved work/life balance for the full time Artistic Director. Through 
a 2014 Organization Development grant from the City of Kelowna, the Board and staff will 
work with a consultant in 2014 to improve governance effectiveness and organization impact. 
 
A Board Manual and a range of policies regarding governance and management of the 
organization have been developed by the Board and staff over the last two years. Financial 
systems, reporting and budgeting processes, with assistance from bookkeeping and accounting 
professionals, are in place. The Board is actively involved in self-evaluation, succession 
planning and Board recruitment on an ongoing basis. 
 
The organization has identified fundraising as a top priority for 2014. 
 

122



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
January 29, 2014 
 

File: 
 

0710-20 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Sandra Kochan, Cultural Services Manager 

Subject: 
 

2014 Operating and Project Grants for Arts, Culture and Heritage Organizations 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives, for information, the list of 2014 recipients for Arts, Culture & Heritage 
Operating Grants and Project Grants as outlined in the report dated January 29, 2014 from 
the Cultural Services Manager. 
 
Purpose:  
 
The report provides City Council with an update regarding recipients of 2014 Arts, Culture and 
Heritage Operating and Project Grants, background information about the grant programs and 
review process, and highlights from final reports provided by 2013 grant recipients. 
 
Background: 
 
The Active Living & Culture Division manages a number of grant programs providing funding to 
community organizations. 
 
The two programs encompassed in this report are: 
  
Arts, Culture & Heritage Operating Grants: 

 The purpose of operating grants is to support the day-to-day operations of local non-
profit arts, culture and heritage organizations. Eligible organizations have a mandate 
focused on arts, culture and heritage programs and services for the public and must 
demonstrate financial need, organizational effectiveness and community engagement 
and impact. 

 The 2014 guidelines are posted on kelowna.ca/culture. The application deadline was 
November 29, 2013. 

 As reported to Council on September 30, 2013, more detailed feedback will be 
provided to 2014 applicants through staff. Feedback will be based on commentary 
from the grant review committee, and will specify, where warranted, aspects of 
organizational effectiveness or community engagement which can be improved. 
Organizations returning to the program in subsequent years will be required to 

123

http://www.kelowna.ca/CM/Page2282.aspx


2 
 

demonstrate how they have responded to the feedback and worked to make the 
necessary improvements. Lack or insufficiency of response will be considered in future 
applications and may result in a reduction of support. 
 
This approach mirrors the ‘fair notice’ practices used by a number of public sector arts 
funding agencies in Canada, and provides an additional tool for ensuring accountability 
in the provision of operating support. 

 
 
Arts, Culture & Heritage Project Grants: 

 The purpose of project grants is to support eligible expenses for festivals, events and 
projects which have an arts, culture and heritage focus. Any non-profit organization 
may apply for a grant – applicants do not need to have an arts, culture or heritage 
mandate. Projects may be new or existing, should be unique and viable, and must 
demonstrate community support through matching funding. A maximum of $10,000 in 
matching funding is available for up to three consecutive years. 

 The 2014 guidelines are posted on kelowna.ca/culture. The application deadline was 
November 29, 2013. 

 In 2014, Project Grant guidelines were revised to introduce eligibility for grants to 
support Organization Development Projects, defined as ‘an activity or initiative to 
develop the organization’s capacity and sustainability through improved governance, 
planning, training, fund development, audience development or program review.’ 
Eligible expenses include fees for participation in reputable programs for Board, 
volunteer or management development, and consulting fees associated with planning 
projects. 

 
These grants are provided on a matching basis, and therefore organizations must also 
invest their own resources in Organization Development Projects. 
 
Any organization undertaking an Organization Development Project with City support 
will be required to provide a Final Report which documents measurable outcomes. 
 
The objective is to support the development of strong non-profit leadership skills, and 
organizations which are healthy, resilient and responsive to the communities they 
serve. 

 
2014 Guidelines for the Operating and Project Grant programs were approved by Council on 
September 30, 2013. 
 
A summary of the grant process for 2014 is provided below: 
  

124

http://www.kelowna.ca/CM/Page2282.aspx


3 
 

 
PHASE ONE Oct-Dec 2013 
Application Preparation & 

Intake 

PHASE TWO Nov 2013-Jan 2014 
Review Committees & 

Review Process 

PHASE THREE Jan-Feb 2014 
Grant Awards & Distribution 

Publication of guidelines and 
application forms (Oct) 

COF convenes and trains two 
committees for Operating & Project 
grants (Oct-Nov) 
 
Staff convene a separate committee 
for Community Public Art grants 

Staff contacts all applicants to advise on 
results and provide feedback from 
Committee review (late Jan/early Feb) 

Two public information 
workshops (Oct) 

Committees receive and complete 
independent review of all 
applications (Dec-Jan) 

Staff report to Council re: grant awards 
(early Feb) 

Staff support for applicants 
preparing applications (Oct-Nov) 

Each committee meets in roundtable 
to decide on grant awards (Jan) 

Follow up correspondence from staff to 
all applicants (Feb) 

Application deadline Nov. 29 Committee minutes prepared and 
provided to staff (Jan) 

Grant awards paid to recipients prior to 
end of February Staff screening of applications 

Dec. 2-6 

Applications to Central Okanagan 
Foundation (COF) by Dec. 11 

 
Internal Circulation: 
Director, Active Living & Culture Division 
Communications Consultant, Communications & Information Services 
 
Existing Policy: 
This report is submitted pursuant to Council Policy 274 (Cultural Policy). 
 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
This report has been prepared in consultation with the Central Okanagan Foundation. 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations 
Personnel Implications 
Communications Comments 
Alternate Recommendation 
 
Submitted by:  

 
S. Kochan, Cultural Services Manager 
 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 J. Gabriel, Director, Active Living & Culture Division 
 
 

  

125



4 
 

Attachments:  

 Schedule A – 2014 Operating Grant Recipients 

 Schedule B – 2014 Project Grant Recipients 

 Schedule C – Independent Review and the Role of the Central Okanagan Foundation 

 Schedule D – Highlights from 2013 Final Reports 

 Schedule E – Summary of Grant Activity 2010-2014 
 
cc:  Director, Active Living & Culture Division 
 Communications Consultant, Communications & Information Services 

Grants Manager, Central Okanagan Foundation 
  

126



5 
 

Schedule A – 2014 Operating Grant Recipients 
Report from Cultural Services Manager, January 29, 2014 

 

 
ORGANIZATION (* denotes new recipient) 

OPERATING 
GRANT 2014 

DESCRIPTION 

1 Bumbershoot Childrens’ Theatre $10,000 Introduces youth and children to 
theatre with their very first 
performance opportunities. Provides 
community classes and workshops, 
assistance to schools and educational 
theatre for youth grades K-8. 

2 Central Okanagan Heritage Society $12,000 Owns, operates and maintains several 
prominent heritage buildings and 
delivers heritage based events, 
programs and services throughout the 
year. 

3 Centre Culturel Francophone de L’Okanagan $8,000 Owns and operates the French 
Cultural Centre and provides programs 
which share and celebrate French 
culture in Canada including summer 
camps, language classes, art 
exhibitions and performances. 

4 Chamber Music Kelowna $9,000 Programs an annual performance 
series which brings acclaimed classical 
performers to Kelowna. Outreach to 
youth through classes, workshops and 
school performances. 

5 Cool Arts Society $8,000 Provides art experiences for adults 
and teens with ‘diversabilities’ 
through regular workshops, 
exhibitions and events. Collaborates 
extensively with other organizations. 

6 Creative Okanagan* $1,500 Provides career development and 
education for emerging artists by 
linking them with performance 
opportunities and the broader 
community 

7 Dolyna Ukrainian Cultural Society $1,500 Provides programs which celebrate 
Ukrainian culture in Canada, including 
dance, language, food, traditions and 
special events. The dance group has 
professional instruction and is winning 
awards. 

8 Kelowna City Concert Band Society $6,000 50 musicians of all ages, both amateur 
and professional, perform at a variety 
of annual events such as Canada Day, 
Remembrance Day, and for official 
events such as City Council 
inauguration ceremonies.  

9 Kelowna Community Music School Society $8,500 Over 600 students benefit from 

127



6 
 

private and group lessons offering a 
high level of music instruction and a 
strong community presence through 
musical collaboration and 
performance. 

10 Viva Musica Society (Kelowna Summer 
Theatre Festival) 

$10,000 2014 will mark the third year for the 
annual Summer Theatre Festival 
providing professional performance 
opportunity for new/emerging actors. 

11 Kiwanis Music Festival Society $5,000 A month long event, open to 
participants of all ages in a variety of 
disciplines, including dance and rock 
‘n roll which were introduced in 2013. 
There were over 4,500 participants in 
2013. 

12 Okanagan Chinese Canadian Association $6,800 The organization builds public 
appreciation of Chinese culture 
through classes, events, welcome of 
new arrivals, and collaboration with 
other organizations for Asian Heritage 
Month. 

13 Okanagan Festival Singers $5,000 Produces and performs large works 
such as Handel’s Messiah. Young 
singers and other choirs from the 
community, as well as Symphony 
musicians are often part of the larger 
group for performances. 

14 Okanagan Historical Society $10,000 Operates and maintains the Father 
Pandosy Mission site and delivers 
programs and events which share the 
story of the site with residents and 
visitors. 

15 Ponderosa Spinners & Weavers $1,000 Fosters fibre arts through public 
demonstrations, classes and a hands-
on educational program for SD23 
Grade 3 classes. Actively collaborates 
with other organizations and events. 

    

 TOTAL GRANTS AWARDED $102,300  

  

128



7 
 

 
 

Schedule B – 2014 Project Grant Recipients 
Report from Cultural Services Manager, January 29, 2014 

 
 

 ORGANIZATION 
(* denotes new project 
or recipient) 

PROJECT 
PROJECT 
GRANT 
2014 

DESCRIPTION 

1 Bumbershoot Childrens’ 
Theatre 

Organization 
Development – 
Governance & 
Administrative 
Review 

$3,000 Evaluation and development of 
organizational governance and 
administration. Experienced 
consultant will work with and 
mentor staff and Board to 
improve financial processes and 
planning, enable future visioning 
and build stronger administrative 
systems. 

2 Central Okanagan 
Heritage Society 

Guisachan Heritage 
Park Brochure 

$1,450 Creation of a self-guided 
interpretive tour brochure (print 
and digital format) for Guisachan 
Heritage Park. 

3 Centre Culturel 
Francophone de 
L’Okanagan 

Maple Fest 
March 29-30, 2014 

$10,000 Family friendly annual 
celebration of Francophone 
culture including food, music, 
crafts, dancers, storytelling, 
displays and a traditional 
breakfast, all in the Cultural 
District. Anticipated attendance 
of 2,500+ 

4 Kelowna Art Gallery Organization 
Development – 
Membership & 
Donor Base Upgrade 
Project 

$5,400 The project will provide the 
Gallery with software, staff 
training, and new procedures and 
goals for attracting sponsors and 
donors and managing 
memberships. The project  
objective is to generate funds for 
the Gallery on a long term basis. 

5 Kelowna Visual & 
Performing Arts Centre 
Society (Rotary Centre 
for the Arts) 

Organization 
Development – 
Strategic Business 
Plan for Food & 
Beverage Support 
Services 

$5,000 Catering at the RCA is a key part 
of facility rentals and activity. A 
professional consultant will 
analyze and advise on financial 
and operational models for food 
and beverage service that are 
sustainable and aligned with the 
facility’s operations and 
objectives. 

6 Kiwanis Festival Society* National Music 
Festival 
Aug 9-16, 2014 

$10,000 The Federation of Canadian Music 
Festivals (FCMF) hosts an annual 
festival in a different location 
each year. This is the first time 
the national festival has come to 
the BC Interior. The Festival 

129



8 
 

brings performers, adjudicators, 
families and audiences to the 
community for two days of 
classical music competition and 
adjudication followed by a finale 
Awards concert at the Rotary 
Centre for the Arts. 

7 Okanagan Artists 
Alternative Association 
(Alternator Centre for 
Contemporary Art) & Cool 
Arts Society – joint 
application 

Organization 
Development – 
Board training in 
efficacy, 
fundraising and 
marketing 

$2,600 This is a joint application by two 
organizations which share similar 
challenges and need for Board 
training. A professional 
consultant will work with the 
Boards and staff of both 
organizations to address gaps in 
Board productivity and skills. 

8 Okanagan Chinese 
Canadian Association 

Asian Heritage 
Month 
May 1-25, 2014 

$7,000 The month long celebration 
includes multiple events such as 
an exhibition at the Kelowna Art 
Gallery, Taste of Asia dine 
around at local restaurants, Asian 
Move Nights, an exhibition at the 
Okanagan Heritage Museum, 
performances and displays. It is a 
collaborative effort between a 
number of Asian cultural groups. 
Anticipated attendance 5,000+ 

9 Okanagan Symphony 
Orchestra 

Asian Celebration 
concert during 
Asian Heritage 
Month 
May 10, 2014 

$5,000 This unique concert to celebrate 
Asian Heritage Month features 
performances by a variety of 
local and visiting musicians, 
including Ensemble Liberta from 
Kelowna’s sister city Kasugai, 
Japan, local taiko drummers, and 
traditional music from a variety 
of Asian cultures. Anticipated 
attendance 850. 

10 Society of Canadian 
Visual Artists* 

Okanagan Art Show 
& Inspiration 
Symposium 
May 9-10, 2014 

$2,100 Professional artists will provide 
presentations, panel discussions, 
workshops and demonstrations 
for local artists seeking to 
improve their skills. There will 
also be a public art exhibition. 
Anticipated attendance 200. 

  TOTAL GRANTS 
AWARDED 

$51,550  

 
 

  

130



9 
 

Schedule C – Independent Review and the Role of the Central Okanagan Foundation 
Report from Cultural Services Manager, January 29, 2014 

 
The Central Okanagan Foundation has worked with Cultural Services since 2010 to administer 
an arms-length, independent evaluation process for both Operating and Project grants. This 
relationship is governed by a Memorandum of Agreement which is reviewed each year. 
 

Highlights from the agreement: 
o The Foundation recruits and trains the Review Committees, provides applications to 

the committee members, and convenes and facilitates the committee meetings where 
grant recommendations are formulated; 

o The Foundation forwards grant recommendations to the City; 
o Cultural Services is responsible for the grant program guidelines, forms, information 

workshops, working with applicants and distribution of funds. 
o The annual fee paid to the Foundation is $10,000, from the Cultural Services 

administration budget. 
 
The principle of arm’s length review and the role of independent review committees: 
External, independent, arm’s length review of grant applications (often called ‘peer review’ 
meaning that applications are reviewed by knowledgeable peers of applicant organizations) is 
a principle enshrined in most arts grants programs. 
 
The underlying principles of peer assessment are fairness, transparency and independence. 

Fairness: 
 Review by people who understand the cultural sector or the particular 

discipline 
 Review based solely on the merits of the application within the program 

guidelines and criteria 
 Equal opportunity to all applicants – all applicants are treated the same way 

 
Transparency: 

 Program guidelines and criteria are clear and publicly accessible 
 Applicants are provided with information and assistance before, during and 

after the application process 
 The public is assured that funding is distributed in a fair, equitable and 

accountable manner which is supported by a declared process and 
documentation 

 
Independence: 

 Applicants know that their applications are evaluated based on known criteria 
free from other pressures and influences 

 
Composition of the grant review committee: 
The Central Okanagan Foundation, in consultation with Cultural Services, determines the 
composition of grant review committees. Six committee members (with alternates) are 
selected for each program. They are selected based on their experience, merit and familiarity 
with grant processes and the local arts, culture and heritage community. To the extent 
possible, the committee will also reflect the diversity of the community at large and the 
range of disciplines and activities reflected in the list of applicants. 
 

131



10 
 

The work of committee members is governed by Terms of Reference prepared by the Central 
Okanagan Foundation. The Terms of Reference include clear procedural direction in the event 
of a real or perceived conflict of interest. Committee meetings are chaired by the 
Foundation’s Grants Manager. City staff are present at Committee meetings as observers and 
to provide information support, but they do not participate in discussions or decision making. 
Grant awards are developed by consensus of the committees. 
 
Since 2011, an experienced cultural non-profit professional from outside the Okanagan region 
has been invited to participate as a reviewer for both Operating and Project grants. 
 
The benefits of an external committee member are: 

 Depth of experience in adjudication of arts and culture grants – experienced reviewers 
can spot the merits and flaws in applications quickly and offer good analysis 

 No risk of conflict of interest or personal bias – it is easier for external reviewers to 
remain objective about the merits of an application when they are not tied to, or 
familiar with the work of particular organizations 

 Other committee members observe and learn at a higher level – experienced reviewers 
can assist others in objectively reviewing the merits of an application against the 
program criteria and guidelines and help resist the temptation to rely on personal 
experience and preferences 

 External member gains unique knowledge about Kelowna’s cultural community – this 
builds awareness of the diversity and quality of local offerings, something that may 
not be widely known outside our community 

 New knowledge and perspective – external reviewers bring with them knowledge about 
new arts practices, projects, and events which may be only at the emergence stage 
locally – their perspective assists in determining whether unique, new ideas being 
proposed are feasible and realistic. 
 

  

132



11 
 

Schedule D – Highlights from 2013 Final Reports 
Report from Cultural Services Manager, January 29, 2014 

 
Recipients of Operating and Project Grants are required to file a final report within a 
prescribed timeline describing their use of City of Kelowna funding and the benefits and 
impact achieved. Information provided in the reports is helpful to Cultural Services in a 
variety of ways, including documenting successes, community participation and benefit and 
ideas for further cultural programming. Highlights from noteworthy 2013 achievements are 
provided below. 
 

Note: not all recipients are included below – sampling only 

Highlights from Final Reports re: 2013 Operating Grants 

Organization Amt rec’d Summary 

Bumbershoot Childrens’ Theatre $10,000 

Bumbershoot attracted audiences of over 3,200 
people for its own productions in 2013, and also 
collaborated with the Okanagan Symphony in its sold 
out production of Peter & The Wolf. Over 370 young 
performers participated in acting classes, summer 
camps and performance experiences, including two 
one-week residencies at local schools. Feedback 
from young actors and their parents demonstrates 
how Bumbershoot experiences build confidence, self-
esteem and other skills which are just as important 
in life as they are on stage. 

Intercultural Society of the Central 
Okanagan 

$5,000 

In addition to continuing work to build awareness 
about Global Millennium Development Goals and the 
value of diversity and multiculturalism, ISCO 
organized Global Citizen Week which, through 7 
different events attracted over 4,500 people. Key 
events supported by the City of Kelowna include the 
Global Music Fest and the Artists Eye on the World. 
The organization also collaborated with other groups 
for Asian Heritage Month celebrations in May. 

Okanagan Historical Society (Father 
Pandosy Mission) 

$10,000 

Funds from the City of Kelowna are used to support 
primary maintenance of the site, most of which is 
completed with volunteer labour. In 2013, the group 
was able to remediate storm damage to trees and 
drainage systems, create some new tourism 
promotion materials, host the annual Antique 
Tractor Show which attracted a crowd of 1,000+ and 
establish a small contingency fund to deal with 
emergency building repairs. 

Chamber Music Kelowna $9,000 

Chamber Music Kelowna presented 5 main stage 
concerts by nationally and internationally acclaimed 
classical musicians in their 2012/2013 season, which 
attracted consistently full houses at the Rotary 
Centre for the Arts, and culminated in a performance 
by the world famous Tokyo String Quartet as part of 
their global farewell tour which also included Tokyo, 
Berlin, London and major US centres. Chamber Music 
performers also provided special free performances 
for student audiences at UBCO, Mt. Boucherie  
Secondary, and the Rotary Centre for the Arts. 

133



12 
 

Highlights from Final Reports re: 2013 Project Grants 

Cool Arts – Lamb to Loom Project $1,200 

This project took 25 Cool Arts artists out to a local 
farm to experience how sheep’s wool is sheared, 
washed and dyed in preparation for carding, spinning 
and weaving. The Ponderosa Spinners and Weavers 
group helped the artists learn various skills. A variety 
of creations were made from the wool and now are 
part of an educational display at the BC Orchard 
Industry Museum in the Laurel Packinghouse. 

Cathedral Church of St. Michael & All 
Angels – Cathedral Centennial 
Heritage Festival 

$10,000 

This grant supported cultural celebrations in honour 
of the Cathedral’s Centennial in 2013. More than 
1,250 people attended a choral concert, classical 
music performance and Heritage Festival which 
welcomed people of all ages. The Festival included 
tours, displays and activities which communicated 
the history of the Cathedral in the community. 
Organizers commented that the celebrations re-
invigorated pride about the Cathedral’s public role in 
the community and reinforced the importance of 
forging new connections. The municipal support was 
key in leveraging further support from the 
Department of Canadian Heritage. 

Kelowna Visual & Performing Arts 
Centre Society (Rotary Centre for the 
Arts) – Arts After School Programming 

$3,500 

This programming operated 3-5 pm, 3 days a week, 
in the spring of 2013. 95 young people attended 
drop-in classes in visual arts, drama, dance, 
drumming and singing. Resident and local 
professional artists were hired to facilitate the 
programming. Funding was used for art supplies and 
instructor fees. Program fees were modest and rates 
were reduced if more than one child per family was 
enrolled. One unanticipated result was that the RCA 
made new connections with families involved in 
home schooling, who felt that this programming was 
particularly valuable. The program was also 
supported by a TELUS community grant. 

Okanagan Symphony Orchestra – How 
Canada Came to Be 

$5,500 

This project restaged a work created by award-
winning local educator Rhonda Draper which conveys 
Canadian history through music. More than 300 
elementary school students were involved in the 
production as choristers, actors, dancers and 
narrators. A 6-camera team of students from the 
Centre for Arts & Technology recorded both 
performances and the rehearsal as part of their 
course work, and a DVD will be released with the 
edited footage. The daytime performance was 
attended by over 1,900 students, and the evening 
performance attracted a sell-out audience of 1,200. 
There are already 100 pre-orders for the DVD which 
will enable the show to ‘tour’ throughout the 
province. 

 

134



13 
 

Schedule E – Summary of Grant Activity 2010-2014 
Report from Cultural Services Manager, January 29, 2014 

 

 

                                                           
1
 This includes $110,000 in Operating Grants and one $1,235 Travel Grant to support attendance by one 

organization at the National Arts Marketing Conference in Portland, Oregon in November, 2013. The Travel Grant 
is not available in 2014. 

YEAR DETAILS OPERATING PROJECT 

2010 $ available $80,000 $70,000 
 # of applications 15 28 
 $ requested $133,200 $292,274 
 # of grant awards 12 15 
 $ total awards $77,500 $67,500 
    

2011 $ available $110,000 $70,000 
 # of applications 21 22 
 $ requested $177,700 $134,825 
 # of grant awards 16 12 
 $ total awards $95,200 $70,000 
    

2012 $ available $110,000 $70,000 
 # of applications 20 24 
 $ requested $186,370 $141,488 
 # of grant awards 18 17 
 $ total awards $110,000 $70,000 
    

2013 $ available $111,500 $65,000 
 # of applications 22 17 
 $ requested $190,900 $100,457 
 # of grant awards 17 13 
 $ total awards $111,2351 $65,000 
    
2014 $ available $110,000 $65,000 
 # of applications 17 16 
 $ requested $133,800 $107,407 
 # of grant awards 15 10 
 $ total awards $102,300 $51,550 

135



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
1/29/2014 
 

File: 
 

0710-20 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

Mariko Siggers, Event Development Supervisor 

Subject: 
 

Strategic Events Fund – Keloha Music and Arts Festival  

  

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives, for information, the report from the Event Development Supervisor 
dated January 29, 2014 regarding a grant from the Strategic Events Fund for the 2014 Keloha 
Music and Arts Festival; 
 
AND THAT Council approves a grant of $15,000 from the Strategic Events Fund to support the 
2014 Keloha Music and Arts Festival.  
 
Purpose:  
 
To seek Council’s approval of a grant of $15,000 from the Strategic Events Fund to support 
the 2014 Keloha Music and Arts Festival.  
 
Background: 
 
Strategic Events Fund 
The Strategic Events Fund was developed and implemented in 2013. It is designed to procure 
new events (within the first three years) or develop existing ones that complement Kelowna’s 
culture and event landscape. There are no in-take dates for this fund; instead, the event 
development staff, in consultation with other stakeholders, evaluate opportunities as they 
are identified. Events are measured against a number of criteria: 

 Broad appeal across demographics 

 High quality, unique events 

 Financially and environmentally 
sustainable 

 Supported by the community 

 Elevation of community profile 

 Partnership opportunities and 
community involvement 

 Economic impact 

 Capacity of event organizer to carry 
out the project 

Keloha Music and Arts Festival 
The Keloha Music and Arts Festival exemplifies many of the criteria for the Strategic Events 
Fund. It is a three day festival that has taken place in Waterfront Park in early July of 2012 

136



and 2013. The focus of this festival is eclectic, indie music complimented by a tropical feeling 
venue with visual art and creative elements. The event attracted about 4000 people per day 
with about half its audience coming from outside the Okanagan.  Because of the diverse 
programming, the festival appeals to a broad age group. Children are welcome and activities 
are planned for them. KELOHA showcases Kelowna as a tropical paradise and enhances the 
image of a resort destination. 
 
While well received by the community and participants, the event has not reached a point 
where it is financially viable. To attract a larger audience in 2013, Wet Ape increased 
expenses to book some higher profile acts. This didn’t result in a sufficient increase in ticket 
sales to offset the additional expense. Wet Ape recorded a net loss of $100,000 for KELOHA in 
2013.  
 
Despite the financial setback Wet Ape is committed to success. A more prudent approach to 
planning and budget management is occurring in 2014. To make the festival sustainable, Wet 
Ape has set a preliminary budget to avoid repeating the $100,000 shortfall recorded in 2013. 
They will reduce their expenses by $50,000 through careful procurement of talent, suppliers, 
décor and staffing. To improve their bottom line by another $25,000, they have secured 
private partnerships. Big Surf has increased their sponsorship by 40 per cent. In addition to 
two new sponsors, all sponsors from 2013 have committed to returning in 2014. As well, 
further support has been offered from their radio partners. To secure the additional $25,000 
of their goal, Wet Ape has asked the City and Tourism Kelowna for support. 
 
Tourism Kelowna has invested $12,500 in KELOHA over the past two years and will continue to 
offer support to KELOHA through promotions and other avenues in-kind. 
 
The City can contribute in two ways:   

1. RCMP costs – based on the previous two KELOHA festivals, RCMP have confirmed that 
the festival does not require the level of staffing it had in the previous two years. The 
demographics and genre of music attract a crowd that is reasonable to manage. With a 
similar event set up and crowd numbers, RCMP have indicated they are comfortable 
with a reduction in service levels resulting in a cost savings between $3,500 and 
$6,000. 
 

2. Strategic Events Fund – As 2014 will be its third year of production, KELOHA meets the 
criteria for a “new event” and is eligible for a maximum grant of $25,000. KELOHA 
meets the objectives of the  Strategic Events Fund: 

 Creating unique, unforgettable experiences – KELOHA was designed for 
Kelowna. It showcases the natural assets and celebrates the vibrant arts and 
music culture that exists here. There are many components to the festival 
which provide attendees a multitude of creative, active and artistic 
experiences.  

 Generating positive exposure for Kelowna –KELOHA exhibits an arts, culture 
and music experience that Kelowna can be proud to host. It is a homegrown 
event that showcases some of the best natural and cultural attributes of the 
city. The media exposure is extensive in BC and Alberta and has an estimated 
value of around $350,000 annually. 

 Building extensive, long lasting legacies –With KELOHA’s lakeside ambiance and 
eclectic musical line-up, it has the potential to be a marquee event within the 

137



summer festival line-up. Priding themselves on being “local” Wet Ape engages 
talent, staff, volunteers, artists and organizations from within the community. 

 
Staff believe a strategic investment at this time will assist KELOHA in achieving financial 
viability and recommend that a grant of $15,000 be awarded to Wet Ape for the production of 
KELOHA in 2014. In combination with the reduction in RCMP services, the total impact the 
City will have on Wet Ape’s budget will be approximately $20,000. This one-time investment 
of strategic fund dollars will provide significant support to Wet Ape and will encourage them 
to develop and grow the event in Kelowna this coming summer. Having spent over $1 million 
in the past two years to produce this festival, Wet Ape is committed to achieving success.  
 
Both Wet Ape and City staff have noticed a three-year trend with other events. Often it’s 
during the third year that the event reaches the “tipping point” where reputation and fan 
base support through ticket sales or registration and make the event viable. While there is no 
guarantee of success, KELOHA has gained momentum in its first two years and has potential 
to become a mainstay in the Western Canadian summer festival line-up. In the event that 
revenue targets are not met again, there is a risk that 2014 could be the last year for this 
festival. However, staff are confident in Wet Ape’s ability to engage a broad demographic and 

geographic area, thereby generating the necessary revenue to be sustainable. 
 
Community Benefit 
Staff support a $15,000 grant to KELOHA because of the significant community benefits that it 
generates: 

 Alignment with the City’s event development goals 

 Estimated economic impact of $1.5 million including over $18,500 in park rental fees 
to the City 

 More than 2,500 ticket holders from outside the Okanagan in 2013 

 Media exposure in print and online estimated at over $350,000 in value.  

 Partnerships with local artists and organizations which aid in their development 

 Strong volunteer development program 
 
As a condition of funding, the City will require a final report to be submitted which outlines 
the specific enhancements in these areas. KELOHA aligns with the overall goals for event 
development, has been a highlight in the summer event schedule and is developing into an 
important festival in our event landscape. 
 
Internal Circulation: Divisional Director, Active Living and Cultural Services; Manager, Sport 
& Event Development Manager;  
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: Annually, $25,000 is budgeted in the Strategic Events 
Fund. Grants under $10,000 are approved through City staff while requests greater than 
$10,000 are considered by Council. Unused funds are carried forward at the end of the year. 
Currently, there is $40,000 available in the fund. Staff recommend that $15,000 be granted to 
Wet Ape for the production of the 2014 KELOHA Festival.  
 
External Agency/Public Comments: Tourism Kelowna is supportive of staff’s 
recommendation. 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 

138



Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Personnel Implications: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
Existing Policy:  
Communications Comments: 
 
 
 
Submitted by:  
M. Siggers, Event Development Supervisor 
 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 J. Gabriel, Divisional Director, Active Living and Culture 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. KELOHA Overview 
 
cc:  Divisional Director, Active Living & Culture 

Manager, Cultural Services 
Manager, Sport & Event Development 
Divisional Director, Communications & Information Services 

 
 
 

  

139



1Monday, 13 January, 14
140



PAGE CONTENT
3 Introduction

4 Development

5 Economic Viability

6 Community

7 Production Company

8 Media/Legacy

9 The Music

10 The Arts

11 Demographics

12 Appendix A: Map

13 Appendix B: Schedule

TABLE OF CONTENTS

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=v0HlurJ18dM

2Monday, 13 January, 14
141



Mandate
To build a community based music and arts festival that showcases 
great up and coming talent; as well as, international performers in a 
fun interactive atmosphere that can be enjoyed by all ages.

Location
Kelowna’s Waterfront Park (refer to the Venue Map in Appendix B)

Dates
Friday,  July 11th, 5 – 10PM
Saturday,  July 12th, 1 – 10PM
Sunday,  July 13th, 1 – 10PM

Attendance
KELOHA is all-ages and draws fans from across Western Canada. In 
2013 the festival had 15,000 guests through the gates during the 3 
days and we expect over 20,000 in 2014.

KELOHA is a music and arts festival that prides itself on being ‘a waterfront escape into music and art’. 
It takes place in Kelowna’s Waterfront Park, along Okanagan Lake, at the beginning of July. It’s owned and 
operated by Wet Ape Productions (the same company that owns and operates Center of Gravity in 
Kelowna). It includes 2 stages, arts exhibitions and installations, a beverage garden, and an exhibitors’ 
village. The line-up features over 30 bands with an eclectic mix of rock, indie, alternative, country, and 
folk. This will be its third year and it has received great reviews from the media, patrons, city officials, 
artists, and local businesses from its first 2 years.

INTRODUCTION

3Monday, 13 January, 14
142



DEVELOPMENT

Strategic Plan
The strategic plan is to establish a festival at the beginning of the summer, when no other major ticketed event is 
happening in the Okanagan Valley; feature live music that showcases the latest trends in the entertainment industry; 
highlight Kelowna’s natural beauty in our marketing campaign; embrace the emerging music and arts scene of the 
city; keep the festival inclusive and actively recruit local artists to showcase their talents at the festival; and continue 
to partner with the right local organizations that fit with our mandate and help grow the festival.

The concept behind KELOHA is to build a tropical themed eclectic outdoor music and arts festival that 
draws fans from across Western Canada. When guests cross Harmony Bridge and enter the venue we 
want them to feel like they have escaped into a beautiful tropical world of music and art. There are tiki 
torches, palm trees, dancers, paddle boards, themed signage, and the two stages are built on the water in 
intimate settings which help artists connect with the audience.

Sustainability
Most festivals and events take approximately 3 years before they become 
financially sustainable. The main reason for this is that it takes a couple years 
to establish a loyal fan base that attends regularly. Many festivals will see a 
tipping point, with a large increase in attendance, after this 3 year period. 
Based on our experience with COG and our research and feedback from 
the bands and festival guests attending KELOHA we are confident that it will 
pass the break-even this summer (in it’s first 2 years KELOHA lost money). 
KELOHA draws a wide range of ages and has received positive reviews from 
a large demographic. We feel that the festival has a wide appeal and is already 
building a loyal fan based that will support the festival year after year. Our 
confidence that KELOHA will succeed in Kelowna is strong enough that 
we’re willing to invest another $600,000 into the festival for 2014.

4Monday, 13 January, 14
143



ECONOMIC VIABILITY

Financial Requirements
To move forward with KELOHA 2014 we need to confirm 
$50,000 in additional support (compared to the 2013 
festival). We have approached this target as a combined 
effort by ourselves, our sponsors and suppliers, Tourism 
Kelowna, and the City of Kelowna. Whether we receive 
support in the form of cash or cost savings it has 
essentially the same affect on the bottom line.

On our end we have already been able to trim some of 
the fat from our expenses; some of our key sponsors have 
already committed to increased cash commitments; and 
our major suppliers have offered us further discounts on 
their rates. We figure this will make up approximately 
$25,000 of our $50,000 target.

We are asking the City of Kelowna and Tourism Kelowna 
to work together to provide financial support and cost 
savings to the total amount of $25,000.

In 2013 KELOHA had an economic impact of over $1,500,000 on the local economy. The event itself 
costs over $600,000 and over $400,000 of the that is spent directly in Kelowna with local suppliers, 
businesses, venues, hotels, and subcontractors.  For each of the 3 days at the festival there are 
approximately 2,000 out of town guests that spend $125/day on average in the city. KELOHA also has a 
major media campaign which is valued at over $350,000 in media exposure.

5Monday, 13 January, 14
144



COMMUNITY

Volunteers/Subcontracts
Wet Ape, the company which produces KELOHA, is a Kelowna 
based production company that employs a number of local 
subcontractors and provides a number of opportunities for 
volunteers and members of the community to get involved in the 
festival.

Environmental Impact
KELOHA takes place at Kelowna’s Waterfront Park which includes 
a beautiful amphitheatre along Okanagan Lake. We are able to 
minimize the impact on the local residents by leaving the 
boardwalk open until noon each day. KELOHA also has a number 
of green initiatives and is very careful to minimize the impact on 
Waterfront Park and preserve the natural spaces.

Accessibility
KELOHA has a low ticket price and attractive hotel room 
packages to help draw out of town guests. The cost of admission 
per day is approximately $40 and $100 for the weekend.

KELOHA partners with as many of the right local organizations as possible for the benefit of the festival 
and the community. KELOHA stakeholders include Music BC, Tourism Kelowna, Festivals Kelowna, 
Centre for Arts and Technology, Oranj Fitness, Okanagan Gymnastics Centre, Rally4Life, SUP4Life, K-
Comp, and KBAAD.

6Monday, 13 January, 14
145



Wet Ape Productions
Wet Ape (Wet Ape Ltd.) was established in 2007 for the purpose of creating 
and developing unique sport, music, and cultural events across Western 
Canada. Our vision is to ‘create people’s favourite moments’ and our mission 
is to enrich people’s lives by creating innovative experiences that are 
exceptionally executed. We own part of a mid-sized special events venue in 
Vancouver, The Imperial, and we have created and produced a wide variety of 
events in arenas, outdoor amphitheatres, and concert halls; however, Wet 
Ape’s speciality is creating and producing large outdoor festivals. Wet Ape is 
the proud owner of Canada's hottest beach festival, Center of Gravity, which 
draws over 30,000 guests/year; as well as, the KELOHA which draws over 
15,000 guests/year.

PRODUCTION COMPANY
Wet Ape Productions is a Kelowna based company that oversees all aspects of KELOHA including: 
concept development, branding, marketing/promotions, logistics, staffing, project management systems, 
budget management, financing, talent booking, security plans, emergency access plans, sponsorship 
acquisition, food and beverage services, production design, media partnerships, web and social media 
content, communications, hospitality, and waste management.

7Monday, 13 January, 14
146



MEDIA/LEGACY

Media
KELOHA includes a major media campaign that will reach 
across Western Canada. The campaign includes major media 
buys in Kelowna, Vancouver, and Kamloops; a PR campaign 
that targets Vancouver, Calgary, and Edmonton; sponsor 
partners’ retail promotions across BC and Alberta; and 
promoter teams set up in Kelowna, Kamloops, Vancouver, 
Edmonton, and Calgary. The campaign will be valued at over 
$350,000 in media exposure.

Legacy
Kelowna currently has some great festivals and events and 
KELOHA is great fit as a marquee event within the current 
events calendar. It is unique, inclusive in its nature, and is 
complimentary to the current event landscape and culture of 
the city. KELOHA will continue to grow over the next 2 or 3 
years and we will continually look to engage more local 
musicians, artisans, and related organizations; as well as, to 
expand to additional venues throughout the city.

KELOHA has the ability to create a new depth to Kelowna’s culture. Kelowna has an emerging music and 
arts scene and KELOHA is the perfect venue to showcase this to Western Canada. KELOHA can help 
redefine how tourists see Kelowna’s culture and appreciate the growing music and arts scene of the city.

8Monday, 13 January, 14
147



THE MUSIC
Island Stage
Island Stage is at the heart of  Waterfront Park. The stage is located in the 
middle of a beautiful cove surrounded by a grass amphitheatre. The artists are 
primarily indie, alternative, and rock bands. It runs from 5 – 10PM on Friday and 
1:30 – 10PM on Saturday and Sunday. The headliners take stage at 8:45PM each 
evening. Past performers include MGMT, Matt & Kim, MUTEMATH, Cold War 
Kids, AWOLNATION, Tokyo Police Club, The Sheepdogs, The Joy Formidable, 
Arkells, Atlas Genuis, Cults, Capital Cities, The Trews, Current Swell, The 
Matinee, The Zolas, Graffiti6, Dan Mangan, The Limousines, The Dudes, and 
many more.

Sandbar Stage
Sandbar Stage is located at the north end of the beach facing directly south. 
The entertainment will run from 1 – 6PM on Saturday and Sunday. The 
headliners take stage at 4:45PM each afternoon. Sandbar Stage is along the lake 
so guests can enjoy the performances from the water. Past performers include 
The Boom Booms, Shad, Humans, Hey Ocean, Dirty Radio, and many more.

Lineup
The 2014 line-up will have a heavy emphasis on indie bands but we will 
also feature alternative, rock, electro pop, country, and folk. This is an 
amazing event for a true music fan: intimate venues in beautiful locations 
with amazing live acts. There will be a wide variety of artists, but they will 
all have one thing in common; they will all put on an amazing live show.

9Monday, 13 January, 14
148



THE ARTS
Art Ave is a great place for kids, families and the young at heart. Filled with interactive activities for all ages, Art 
Ave aims to get your creative juices flowing! Featuring local exhibitors and live art creation by local artisans.

A Celebration of Arts 
Art Ave will feature a craft tent presented by Nannysitters and Just Be Friends 
where children (and the young at heart) are invited to create colorful keepsakes. 
Nannysitters are also pleased to be providing short-term child-minding at the 
craft tent throughout the weekend. Other stations designed to engage attendees 
to hone their creative skills and to encourage play will be a DIY tie-dye booth, 
KELOHA photobooth, chalk drawing and sand castle building. The Okanagan 
Observatory will also be on-site providing event goers with a peek into space 
with their one of a kind Sun-Viewing Telescope.

Other activities will include acrobatic performances by Okanagan Gymnastics, 
drop-in yoga, and a hashtag (#) activated bubble machine. KELOHA-themed live 
art installations will also be created throughout the weekend by Okanagan and 
surrounding area artists.

Not only will Art Ave be a place to explore creative expression on individual 
levels, but it will also represent a forum for networking within the community - 
featuring and highlighting local artists, businesses and art initiatives as a way of 
connecting people of all ages with a tangible contemporary art scene. By 
involving the arts through Art Ave, KELOHA expands on the traditional music 
festival format, encouraging individual creativity, play and community involvement 
in a family-friendly environment.

10Monday, 13 January, 14
149



DEMOGRAPHICS

37%

27%

13%
1%1% 10%

4%

3%
2%

2%

Kelowna (37%)
Lower Mainland (27%)
Interior (other) (13%)
Calgary (1%)
Edmonton (1%)
BC (other) (10%)
Canada (other) (4%)
Alberta (other) (3%)
Vancouver Island (2%)
USA (2%)

CATEGORY STATISTICS

Age 65% are between 19 to 30 years of age

Gender 58% female, 42% male

Lifestyle majority are young students/professionals who 
lead active, social lives

Attendance 20,000 guests expected over the 3 days

Website 129,000 page views / month (peak time)

Viral Vids over 15,000 views for promotional videos

Facebook over 4,333 fans

Twitter over 1,275 followers

Locations

11Monday, 13 January, 14
150



APPENDIX A: MAP

12Monday, 13 January, 14
151



JULY 11 KELOHA - FRIDAY

5 – 10pm Gates Open

5 – 10pm Village (The Plaza, Sunset Way, and Art Ave)

5:30 – 10pm Island Stage

5:30 – 9pm Lakeside Lounge & Paradise Cove (19+)

8:30 – 10pm Headliner – Island Stage

JULY 12/13 KELOHA  - SAT & SUN

1 – 10pm Gates Open

1 – 10pm Village (The Plaza, Sunset Way, and Art Ave)

1 – 6pm Sandbar Stage

1:30 – 10pm Island Stage

2 – 9pm Lakeside Lounge & Paradise Cove (19+)

8:30 – 10pm Headliner – Island Stage

APPENDIX B: SCHEDULE

13Monday, 13 January, 14
152



Report to Council 
 
 

Date: 

 
1/16/2014 
 

File: 
 

1200-40 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

Michelle Kam, Sustainability Coordinator 

Subject: 
 

Our Rutland Project Launch   

  

 

Recommendation: 
 
That Council receives, for information, the report from the Sustainability Coordinator dated 
January 16, 2014, with respect to the Our Rutland Project Launch.    
 
Purpose:  
 
To provide Council with an overview of the Our Rutland project, including community 
engagement timelines.   
 
Background: 
 
The Our Rutland project is a community engagement process that is intended to catalyze the 
Rutland Town Centre through capital projects and/or community programming by building on 
ideas from stakeholders, residents and businesses.  This project will help generate positive 
momentum through community-determined Rutland-focused actions. This project will be a 
partnership with key stakeholders including The Rutland Unified Stakeholders Team (TRUST), 
Uptown Rutland Business Association (URBA) and the Rutland Residents Association.   
 
$100,000 is available for Our Rutland projects which can be used towards either one large 
project or several smaller projects. Projects can be capital infrastructure or community 
program initiatives and must deliver on the following parameters: 

 One time funding (not on-going operational funding) 

 Are within the limits of the Rutland Town Centre boundary (see attached map) 

 Needs to be implemented and/or constructed by September 30th, 2014 

 Ideas not to exceed the $100,000 budget allocated (unless external funding is secured) 

 Level of support from the community  
 
Projects that are out of scope include: 

 Large capital projects that have been identified in previous Rutland planning 
documents 

 Re-branding or marketing of the Rutland sector  

 Highway 33 improvements that are Provincial in nature 

153



 
As part of the Our Rutland project, Staff will collaborate and empower residents, businesses, 
and stakeholders and encourage them to work together.  The community will be involved 
throughout numerous avenues of this project including: project ideas, project selection, as 
well as the opportunity to implement projects and/or programs, depending on the selected 
project.  There will also be an opportunity to leverage investment through community 
partnerships.  
 
An Our Rutland Community Panel has been created to work with City staff throughout this 
project to help promote the project and review project ideas.  This seven person panel 
consists of representatives from TRUST, URBA, Rutland Residents Association and residents to 
represent the diverse voices in the community.  
 
Over twenty Rutland stakeholders participated in a project idea brainstorming session on 
January 16, 2014.  Many of these key stakeholders have agreed to champion the Our Rutland 
project by providing project ideas, sharing the project with their social network and / or 
attending public consultation events. Numerous community consultation events will be held 
during this project (see attached poster for details).    
 
The following are key timelines for the Our Rutland project: 

 Project launch (February 3) 

 Project Ideas from Community (February 3 to 20) 

 Feasibility Analysis (February 24 to March 5) 

 Community Voting on Ideas (March 10 to 20)  

 Tendering / Bid process (April )  

 Project Construction / Implementation (May to September) 

 Project Celebrations (October) 
 
The Our Rutland project will continue to add value to the Rutland Town Centre through up to 
$100,000 in capital infrastructure and/or community programs and build upon the $25 million 
capital investment in the area over the past two years. Ultimately, the Our Rutland project 
aims to create an engaged community and spark additional community projects and pride in 
Rutland.   
 
Internal Circulation: 
Senior Communications Consultant  
Manager, Parks and Public Places   
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
$110,000 has been approved for this project.  $10,000 will be used towards the public 
engagement, Communications Strategy and project management.  $100,000 will be used for 
capital project(s) and/or community programs.   
 
Communications Comments: 
An online portal at getinvolved.kelowna.ca will be launched on February 3. Staff and TRUST 
members are partnering together to ensure in-person community consultation opportunities 
will be available during this project.  
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 

154



Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
M. Kam, Sustainability Coordinator  
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                Danielle Noble-Brandt 
             Department Manager, Policy & Planning  
 
 
Attachments: 
Rutland Town Centre boundary map 
Our Rutland Poster 
 
cc:  
Manager, Parks and Open Space Projects  
Manager, Community and Neighbourhood Projects 
 
 
 

  

155



Ben
Lee
Park

Rutland
Senior
School

Rutland
Recreation

Park

FR
AN

KL
YN

 R
D

DELL RD

DOUGALL RD S

AS
HE

R 
RD

HOLLYDELL RD

DA
VIE

 R
D

HOUGHTON RD

TA
RT

AN
 R

D

HUSCH RD

MA
LL

AC
H 

RD

GRAY RD

DO
UG

AL
L R

D 
N

HARDIE RD

KEITHLEY RD

FR
OE

LIC
H 

RD

MATT RD

PEARSON RD

MCINTOSH RD

GRAHAM RD

BE
LL

 R
D

SA
DL

ER
 R

D

EUGENE RD

PR
IO

R 
RD

 S

FO
RD

 R
D

HOLBROOK RD E

SCARBORO RD

HOLBROOK RD W

KITCH RD

PERRY RD

MA
YF

AIR
 R

D

KN
OR

R 
RD

DU
ND

AS
 R

D

FALKIRK RD

BR
YD

EN
 R

D

PONTO RD

FIL
UK

 C
T

VIS
TA

 R
D

TATARYN RD

FR
AS

ER
 R

D

DUNDEE RD

ADVENTURE RD

DA
LT

ON
 R

D

VENUS RD

GI
BB

S R
D 

E

FIFE RD

JUROME RD

CLARISSA RD

MADSEN RD

BADKE RD

AU
RO

RA
 C

R

BENCHVIEW RD

PR
IO

R 
RD

 N

AL
SG

AR
D 

ST

PE
TC

H 
RD

CA
MB

IE 
RD

MITCHELL RD

LA
UR

EL
 R

D

PATTERSON RD

JUPITER CTWHITE RD

CAMELIA RD

GI
BB

S R
D 

W

THEODORA RD

ARGYLL RD

RE
NS

HA
W 

RD
DUDGEON RD

ROBSON RD W

FIZET AVE

JO
SS

EL
YN

 C
T

CACTUS RD

MA
YF

AIR
 C

T

RO
XB

Y R
D

PIN
ET

RE
E R

D

LA
CE

Y R
D

MARS RD

BA
RB

ER
 R

D

DO
DD

 R
D

ROBSON RD E

BRIARWOOD RD

MC
PH

EE
 ST

SHEPHERD RD

SASKATOON RD

JASCHINSKY RD

SO
LL

Y C
T

JA
DE

 R
D

PRIMROSE RD

BRIAN RD

AL
L S

TA
R 

CT

MILTON RD

MC
DO

NA
LD

 R
D

PA
RK

 R
D

MO
NT

GO
ME

RY
 R

D

GA
LB

RA
ITH

 PL

LOMOND RD

JUPITER RD

DO
NH

AU
SE

R 
RD

RU
ST

ON
 R

D

DILLMAN RD

VA
LL

EY
VIE

W 
RD

GEMINI RD

HOLLYWOOD CT

MILEX CT

SANDS CT

CU
PA

R 
RD

KE
YE

S C
T

DU
GG

AN
 C

T

YA
MA

OK
A C

T

BOLOTZKY CT

DANUBE CT

MU
GF

OR
D 

CT

DY
SA

RT
 R

D

LU
CA

S C
T

PR
IN

CE
SS

 C
T

LARRY RD

PEARSON RD

¯

Rutland Town Centre Boundary

This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its
accuracy. All information should be verified. Rev. Dec. 09/14

 Rutland Town Centre
 Uptown Rutland BIA Boundary
Park

156



OUR RUTLAND

$100K Worth of Ideas!
In building on Rutland’s 
assets, the City of Kelowna 
and community partners 
invite you to share your 
$100K Worth of Ideas from 
February 3 to 21, to be 
invested in the Rutland Town 
Centre.  

Your ideas + Action = Change

Email
ourRutland@kelowna.ca

Visit 
getinvolved.kelowna.ca

In-Person

Share your ideas and pass it on

Support others

Indicate your favourite

URBA Uptown After Hours Event (Feb 5, 5 to 7pm at Army, Navy & Airforce Vets Club)
Plaza 33 (Feb 6 from noon - 2:30pm) 
Willow Park Plaza (Feb 6 from 3 to 5:30pm) - to be confirmed
Rutland Centennial Hall Flea Market  (Feb 9 & 16 from 9am to noon) 
Rutland Activities Centre (Feb 11 from 9:30 to 11:30am)
YMCA (Feb 11 from 4 to 6pm)

Or drop off ideas at Uptown Rutland Office at 148 Valleyview Road.

Rutland Town Centre

157



O U R  R U T L A N D  P R O J E C T   
C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g :  F e b r u a r y  3 ,  2 0 1 4  

158



R U T L A N D  A S S E T S  

$25 million capital 
investment alone in 
the past two years 
(new transit facilities, 
community parks, 
sidewalks/landscaping, 
and improvements to 
recreation facilities)  
The best established 
systems of parks than 
any other community 
in the City. 
 

159



R U T L A N D  A S S E T S  

Numerous recreation 
and sporting 
opportunities 
A community made 
up of citizens with 
strong roots 
An ideal location on 
the door step to UBC 
Okanagan. 
 160



2 0 1 4  R U T L A N D  B U D G E T  

$600,000 for Bulman 
Road bridge 
improvements 
$400,000 for Rutland 
Centennial sportsfields 
improvements 
$300,000 for Rutland 
Activities Centre repairs 
 $70,000 for Rutland 
Arena lighting 
improvements  
$100,000 for Our Rutland 
project.  

161



O U R  R U T L A N D  P R O J E C T  O V E RV I E W  

$100,000 for Our Rutland 
project  
Capital infrastructure 
and/or community 
programs 
Community-determined 
Rutland-focused actions 
Partnership with 
stakeholders and the 
community 
Pilot for the Strong 
Neighbourhoods project 
 162



O U R  R U T L A N D  P R O J E C T  O V E RV I E W  

Funding can go 
towards one large 
project or several 
small projects 
Funding can go 
towards one location 
or several locations 
Projects can be 
implemented by the 
City or by the 
community 
 

 

163



P R O J E C T  PA R A M E T E R S  
One time funding (not 
ongoing operational funding) 
Are within the limits of the 
Rutland Town Centre 
boundary 
Needs to be implemented 
and/or constructed by 
September 30, 2014 
Ideas not to exceed the 
$100,000 budget allocated 
(unless external funding 
secured) 
Level of support from the 
community  

164



Large capital projects that have been 
identified in previous Rutland planning 
documents 
Re-branding or marketing of the Rutland 
sector 
Highway 33 improvements that are 
Provincial in nature 

O U T  O F  S C O P E   

165



P R O J E C T  I D E A S  

Public space 
improvements/enhancements 
i.e. street furniture (benches), 
gardens, lighting, crime / safety 
improvements  
Arts, culture, agricultural and 
recreational initiatives i.e. pop-
up parks/farmer’s market, wall 
murals 
Existing community asset 
improvements i.e. signage  
Future community programs that 
might not be available today but 
would be welcomed in the future 
i.e. dancing in the park 
 

 

166



P R O C E S S  A N D  W O R K  TO  D AT E  

Budget approval for Our 
Rutland project (December 
2013) 
Development of project 
parameters and 
communications strategy 
(December 2013 to January 
2014) 
Initial Stakeholder meeting 
(December 19, 2013) 
Rutland stakeholder meeting 
(January 15, 2014) 

 

167



P R O C E S S  A N D  2 0 1 4  T I M E L I N E S  

Create Rutland 
Community Panel 
(January) 
Consultation and 
Outreach  

Project ideas           
(February 4-20) 
Feasibility Analysis      
(Feb 24-March 5) 
Voting on Ideas        
(March 10-20) 
Tendering / Bid Process 
(April) 168



P R O C E S S  A N D  2 0 1 4  T I M E L I N E S   

Project 
Implementation (May 
to September) 
Measuring Success 
(October to 
November) 

169



C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  

Getinvolved.kelowna.ca 
Share your ideas and pass 
it on (online and in person 
consultation) 
Support others 
Indicate your favourite  
Social media channels 
include Facebook at 
facebook/cityofkelowna or 
Twitter using #OurRutland 
Drop off ideas to URBA 
office.  
 

 

170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178


	Agenda
	2. Minutes - January 20 PM Regular Meeting.pdf
	3.1 Uncollectable Property Taxes Receivable  - Council.docx
	3.2 Policy And Write-Off For Uncollectible General Receivables - Council.docx
	4.1 2014 02 03 Report Z13-0009 Joe Riche Rd.docx
	4.1 2014 02 03 Attachments Z13-0009 Joe Riche Rd.pdf
	4.1.1 Bylaw No. 10912 (OCP13-0008).pdf
	4.1.2 Bylaw No. 10913 (Z13-0009).pdf
	4.2 2014 02 03 Report Z07-0073 OCP07-0022 Rescindment 2728 Pandosy St.docx
	4.2 2014 02 03 Attachments OCP07-0022 Z07-0073 2728 Pandosy St.pdf
	4.2.1 Bylaw No. 10265 (OCP07-0022).pdf
	4.2.2 Bylaw No. 10266 (Z07-0073).pdf
	4.3 Bylaw No. 10906 (Z13-0039).pdf
	4.3.1 2014-02-03-Report-DP13-0170.docx
	4.3.1 2014-02-03-Attachments-DP13-0170.pdf
	4.4 bl10379.pdf
	4.4.1 bl10380.pdf
	4.4.2 2014-02-02 DP10-0047 Council Report.docx
	4.4.2 2014-02-03 DP10-0047 attachments.pdf
	4.5 2014-02-03 - Extension Report - Z11-0035.docx
	4.5 2014-02-03 - Attachment - Z11-0035.pdf
	5.1 Bylaw No. 10738 (Z12-0007).pdf
	6.1 2014 Professional Arts Operating Grants.docx
	6.2 2014 Operating and Project Grants for Arts, Culture and Heritage Organizations.docx
	6.3 2014-01-29 Report - Strategic Events Fund - KELOHA.docx
	6.3 2014-01-29 Keloha Overview.pdf
	6.4 2014-02-03 Report - Our Rutland Project Launch.docx
	6.4 2014-02-03 Attachment 1 - Rutland Town Centre Boundary.pdf
	6.4 2014-02-03 Attachment 2 - Our Rutland Poster.pdf
	6.4 2014-02-03 Attachment 3 - Presentation, Our Rutland.pdf
	7.1 Bylaw No. 10905.pdf
	7.2 Bylaw No. 10909.pdf

